In Pursuit Of The "Designer Vagina"

by

Meghan Gosse

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia July 2015

© Copyright by Meghan Gosse, 2015

\mathbf{r}	1		, •		
"	o A	10	ati	กท	•

To those whose work is dedicated to liberating standards of beauty.

Table Of Contents

Abstract	vi
List of Abbreviations Used	vii
Acknowledgements	viii
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Section I: Female Genital Cosmetic Surgery	2
(Female Genital) Cosmetic Surgery In High Demand	3
FGCS Procedures	4
Knowledge Gap	6
Section II: The Project Goal	7
Research Questions and Objectives	8
Section III: Thesis Structure	9
Chapter Two: Theoretical Framework & Literature Review	12
Section I: Chapter Outline and Theoretical Influences	12
Cosmetic Surgery Versus Reconstructive Surgery	13
Theoretical Influences	14
Section II: Theoretical Debates Surrounding Cosmetic Surgery	16
Cosmetic Surgery As Oppressive	16
Cosmetic Surgery As Empowering	20
Section III: The "Sexualization of Culture"	24
The Gaze of The "Other"	26
Neoliberal Markets	27
Media and Technology	28
Section IV: The Aesthetic Ideal.	29
The Power of Images	30
Body Positive Blogs	33
Conclusion	33
Chapter Three: Methods	35
Section I: The Study Sample	35
Sample Characteristics	37
Section II: The Data Collection Process	38

Instrumental Section	41
Section III: The Coding Process	41
Section IV: Ethical Considerations.	45
Section V: Online Research.	45
Internet Trolling	46
The Internet As A Source Of Health Information	47
Section VI: Study Limitations	48
Chapter Four: Female Genital Cosmetic Surgery: Patient And Surgery Perspectives.	
Section I: Chapter Layout	50
Section II: Motivations and Representations for FGCS	52
Women's Motivations For FGCS	52
Surgeons Representations of Reasons For FGCS	58
Section III: The "Ideal Patient" versus The "Passive Patient"	63
The "Ideal" Cosmetic Patient	67
The Passive Cosmetic Patient	70
Section IV: Risk versus Success.	71
"Rare" Risks	71
FGCS Success	74
What Do The Women Say	76
Lopsidedness of Information	79
Section V: Conclusion.	80
Chapter Five: Medicalizing The Healthy Vulva: The "Right" And "W	
Vagina	
Section I: Chapter Layout	
Section II: Medicalization Explained	
Medical Markets	
Conceptual and Interactional Medicalization	
Section III: Female Genitalia Before and After Surgery	
Genitalia Pre-SurgeryGenitalia Post-Surgery	
Section IV: The "Normal" verses The "Abnormal"	100

The "Normal" Vulva	101
The "Abnormal" Vulva	104
Visual Persuasion: "Before" and "After" Images	108
Section V: Conclusion.	110
Chapter Six: Conclusion	111
Section I: Summary of Findings.	111
Section II: Significance of Study	118
Section III: Future Directions.	119
References	121
Apendix A: Coding Instrument For Surgeons' Websites Offering FGCS	130
Appendix B: Coding Instrument For FGCS Online Forums	138
Appendix C: Content Analysis Sources	144
Appendix D: Surgeons' Websites Reasons For Female Genital Cosmetic Surgery	147
Appendix E: Women's Reasons For Female Genital Cosmetic Surgery	

Abstract

A relatively new, elective and increasing medical procedure in the West known as "female genital cosmetic surgery" (FGCS) claims to have the ability to enhance the functional and aesthetic features of women's genitalia. Using FGCS online discussion forums, this study examines the experiences of women who have undergone, or are contemplating undergoing, genital cosmetic surgery, and explores surgeons' websites in order to understand how FGCS is marketed and promoted online. Using content analysis, this study found that women and clinic websites reported aesthetic concerns, psychological issues, physical discomfort and sexual reasons as the primary motivations for having surgery. Furthermore, this study found that surgeons' websites advertise FGCS as a "low-risk" procedure, which acts as a reasonable solution for correcting an "abnormal" body part (i.e., the female genitals), and which women are increasingly becoming aware of in large part due to emerging normative standards of the vulva.

vi

List of Abbreviations Used

- **ASAPS** American Society of Aesthetic Plastic Surgery
- **ASPS** American Society of Plastic Surgeons
- FGCS Female Genital Cosmetic Surgery
- **NIMH** National Institute of Mental Health
- **RCOG** Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists
- SOGC Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists of Canada

Acknowledgements

This research project would not have been possible without the generous assistance of many people. I would like to first express my deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Emma Whelan, for her mentorship. I owe her a depth of gratitude for her patience and careful reading and constructive critique of numerous drafts. Her knowledge and insight have improved my ability to think creatively and critically. As well, for her continuous support, encouragement, and thoughtful feedback, I would like to deeply thank my committee, Dr. Fiona Martin. I would also like to thank the external reader, Dr. Liesl Gambold for her comments on the thesis.

I would like to further extend a heartfelt thanks to my amazing parents and sister. Without their constant love, support and endless pep talks, completing this thesis would not have been possible. In particular, without my parents' infinite words of wisdom and devoted belief in me I would not be where I am today. I am also especially grateful for my sister, who is my biggest role model in life and who has spent countless hours over these past two years reading and re-reading over my work and listening and re-listening to my presentations. I have learned a lot from your example. You all were always a phone call away to remind me to be happy in life and to remember not to "sweat the small stuff."

Finally, I would like to give a very special thanks to my partner, who has believed in me throughout every step of this process, and has been a sounding board for my ideas. You encouraged me and expressed confidence in my abilities when I could only do the opposite. I am especially grateful for your ability to make me laugh when I needed it the most.

Chapter One: Introduction

Women's bodies have long been subject to social scrutiny, and this is perhaps more accurate today than it has ever been. In the twenty-first century, we are increasingly exposed to images of female bodies as a result of a progressively expanding media-scape. We are currently living in an age where the most commonly viewed image of female genitalia is produced by the pornography industry and is accessible at the click of a mouse, resulting in greater attention to women's genitals. The depictions of female genitals presented by this industry, according to Blackledge (2013, p. 56), are "styled by men for men" and bear "scant resemblance to the varying beauty of unadulterated vaginas." This is to say that the images of female genitals portrayed in pornography tend to present a very specific and homogenous image of strictly groomed genitals, with labia sometimes altered through surgical means into "normal" lengths. The unfortunate outcome of this representation is that it is increasingly understood as a "normal" and accurate representation of female genitalia. Evidence for this is found among the growing numbers of women choosing to undergo FGCS with hope that their genitals will resemble the genitals they see in media outlets, such as pornography, for example (see Chapter Four and Five). These images offer a very narrow, limited, and largely problematic representation of the natural variation of the shapes, sizes and colors women's genitals come in. This increasingly specific and highly visible female genital ideal results in more and more women wanting to, and indeed, feeling pressure to, alter their genitals in order to conform to a specific idea of female genital "normality," particularly through genital hair removal but increasingly also through female genital cosmetic surgery (FGCS).

Section I: Female Genital Cosmetic Surgery

The motivation for this thesis began after having watched a documentary filmed in the UK by Lisa Rogers and Heather Leach titled, *The Perfect Vagina* (2008), which was made in response to the documentary, *My Penis and Everyone Else's* (2007), a film aimed at challenging society's stereotypes of masculinity. The purpose of Rogers and Leach's film was to look at women's insecurities surrounding their genitalia and to further explore the practice of FGCS. After watching *The Perfect Vagina*, I was shocked at how many women in this film were repulsed and mortified by their genitalia – a part of the female body I had little idea could cause such shame and resentment:

I've been picked on about it before, like my sister has, or I've been with guys and then they'd dump me the next day. I've heard "[you have] a hanging ham" and stuff like that. I just hate it! I really really hate mine. It's horrible" (labiaplasty patient) (Rogers and Leach, 2008).

The above quotation demonstrates the pain and embarrassment some women often experience surrounding their genitals on a day-to-day basis. This woman in particular expresses the degree to which she despises the appearance of her genitalia and the hardship (mockery and ridicule) that she has faced because of the appearance of her anatomy, so much so that she had elected to undergo female genital cosmetic surgery in hopes of somehow "fixing" the aesthetics of her genitalia to resemble a "normal" vulva.

Prior to this documentary, I was oblivious to the notion that a woman's genitalia – indeed my genitalia – *ought to* and *should* look a certain and very specific way. Of course I was aware of certain "feminine" trends such as Brazilian waxing, but I was unaware of the notion that if a woman's genitals did not compare to specific standards and expectations of what a vulva is "suppose" to look like, then her genitalia is often considered flawed or "abnormal," and surgery to fix this "problematic vulva" should be

sought out. Indeed, to go a step further, I was not aware that there was such a thing as "normal" genitalia, or that a significant number of women (predominantly in the United States and Canada) are taking extreme measures to achieve an idealized image of the vulva, until research for this thesis had begun.

(Female Genital) Cosmetic Surgery In High Demand

The rise in cosmetic surgery during the last decade is staggering; cosmetic surgery is considered to be the fastest growing medical specialty in North America (American Society for Aesthetic Plastic Surgery, 2013a; Stoppard, Miedema, & Anderson, 2000). In recent years, the practice of cosmetic surgery has received increased attention in mainstream media with many popular TV shows show-casing the apparent benefits of cosmetic procedures. The American Society for Aesthetic Plastic Surgery (ASAPS) (2013a), the primary source of cosmetic surgery statistics in the United States, reported that cosmetic surgery procedures increased by 279% from 1997 through 2013. This increase in cosmetic procedures is also visible among female genital cosmetic surgery, a relatively new and quickly growing elective medical procedure in the West (Braun, 2010).

Female genital cosmetic surgery promises to enhance, modify, and "fix" both the aesthetic and the functional features of a woman's genitalia.² However, medical specialists do not always agree about what constitutes a legitimate reason to perform such procedures (Braun, 2010). This disagreement stems in part from the fact that some medical specialists and professional organizations have issued public position statements

¹ See, for example, "Extreme Makeover," "Nip/Tuck," "The Swan," "Plastic Fantastic."

² It is important to note that FGCS does not refer to traditional female genital cutting, surgeries for intersex or trans individuals, or surgeries for the repairing of vaginal anomalies that are deemed medically abnormal (Braun, 2010).

and recommendations surrounding FGCS procedures. The Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists of Canada (SOGC), for instance, suggests that such procedures "are both lacking in evidence of safety and efficacy and [are] fraught with challenges" (The Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists of Canada, 2013, p. 3), and therefore should not be performed unless medically necessary, such as in cases of injuries following childbirth. In fact, in the month that I began this research (June of 2014), the Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists of Canada's 70th annual meeting was held in Niagara Falls, where the theme was, *The Ideal of Perfect – Genital Cosmetic Surgery*. Canadian gynecologists were set to debate the growing demand for "designer genitalia" procedures.

FGCS Procedures

According to the Vancouver Sun, an article posted on FGCS titled, "Is It Unethical for Canadian Doctors to Perform Female Genital Cosmetic Surgery," reports that FGCS has become so popular that it is now one of the most Google-searched forms of cosmetic surgical procedures (Kirkey, 2014). The term "female genital cosmetic surgery" is a wide umbrella term that encapsulates a large range of procedures to alter a woman's genitalia. Available procedures include vaginal tightening, labia majora and labia minora "augmentations," pubic liposuction, clitoral hood reductions, "G-spot amplification," hymen "reconstruction," and surgery to the mons pubis (Braun, 2010). Operations to have one's vulva "designed" are more prevalent than ever before, with growing numbers of women in Canada and the United States (and other countries in the West) opting to have one or more of the above-mentioned procedures. Furthermore, the cost of these procedures in Canada and the United States can range from \$3,000 to \$8,000 depending on the type of procedure and the number of procedures requested

(Braun, 2005). Similar to other cosmetic surgical procedures, FGCS is not covered by Canadian or American health insurance. However, female genital cosmetic surgery may qualify as a medical expense if it is deemed medically necessary for medical or reconstructive purposes (American Society of Plastic Surgeons, 2015; Canada Revenue Agency, 2015).

The idea of surgery to "enhance" women's genitals is far from new; from "revirginations" to "clitoridectomies," women's genitals have long been recognized as a surgically modifiable part of the female body (Braun, 2013). Surgery on women's genitals for primarily *aesthetic* reasons, however, is new (Braun, 2010). Although discussions of genital surgery for purely aesthetic reasons appear within medical literature as early as 1984, FGCS did not enter the broader public consciousness until 1998 when two Los Angeles surgeons, Drs. Gary Alter and David Matlock, publically announced procedures they were performing that would "beautify" a woman's genitalia (Tiefer, 2007; Rodrigues, 2012). Increasing coverage of these procedures in clinical reports and media throughout the late 1990s and early 2000s has resulted in the "designer vagina" becoming part of public discourse (Braun, 2010).

It is reported and indeed evident through the fragmented and limited research that is available on FGCS, that data on the risks, benefits and long-term outcomes of FGCS are often unreliable, because clinical reports tend to report successful surgeries only, and often provide little evidence concerning long-term outcomes. Despite the limited and unreliable data on FGCS, it is clear that consumer demand for such procedures has grown rapidly, especially within the West. For example, labiaplasty procedures, which include the trimming of a woman's labia in an attempt to make the labia more symmetrical and

less noticeable, almost tripled in a short time according to the National Health Service in the U.K. These procedures went from less than 400 performed in 1999 to approximately 1,200 performed in 2007 (Braun, 2010). Similarly, recently released statistics by the American Society for Aesthetic Plastic Surgery (2013b) show that labiaplasty procedures increased by 44% in 2013 (from 3,521 in 2012 to 5,070 in 2013). The number of surgeons who promote these procedures – and have established specialist clinics –have increased substantially as well. According to the American Society for Aesthetic Plastic Surgery (2013b), the proportion of plastic surgeons performing labiaplasties increased from 21% in 2012 to 29% in 2013 within the United States.

Knowledge Gap

The few studies on FGCS primarily report on the age of the women who undergo these procedures. Patients' ages range from early teens through to the 60s and 70s, with patients in their 20s and 30s predominating (Braun, 2010). However, a number of limitations regarding the data on FGCS have been recorded: for instance, data in the United States rely heavily on information from cosmetic surgeons, rather than gynecologists and other medical specialists who also perform these types of surgeries. Therefore, the prevalence of FGCS could in fact be higher than what is reported (Braun, 2010; Rodrigues, 2012).

Despite the rapidly growing demand for FGCS among women in Canada and the United States, the research available is still limited in its scope; few studies have been conducted on FGCS specifically, with most of the research focusing on cosmetic surgery as a whole. As a result, little is known or understood about the reasons women undergo FGCS. Nor do we know or understand how such procedures are being marketed on

surgeon's websites and what the implications of surgeon's marketing strategies might be.

While there are multiple scholars who have attributed the heightened demand for FGCS to an increase in explicit pornography and increasing awareness of these surgeries, few qualitative studies engage in research that examined the reasons women undergo FGCS.

Section II: The Project Goal

This study will examine how women's reasons for undergoing FGCS are represented, both by women themselves and by the surgeons advertising the procedures. I examine the way women discuss their experiences with, and reasons for, FGCS as a way to evaluate the validity of claims about women's motives. Additionally, this research is concerned with the role that surgeons' websites have in promoting the procedures as well as the reasons surgeons claim women undergo such procedures. These websites have a specific purpose – to advertise and promote the surgeon(s), clinic(s), and surgeries to potential consumers. This aspect of the research will analyze whether surgeons' websites work to sell vaginal distress and anxiety to women, as well as ways in which women's genitals may be constructed as potentially inadequate or damaged, but also improvable (i.e., through medical intervention). This part of the research is significant because surgeons' websites contribute largely to the discourse surrounding FGCS and women's reasons for undergoing it. Lastly, this research will analyze the ways in which text and images (such as before and after photographs) on surgeons' websites might aim to influence women's decisions to undergo, or contemplate undergoing, FGCS with a particular interest in whether and how these images seek to regulate, reduce variation, and mimic the aesthetic ideal of the female genitals. This ideal is suggested to be "absent" and "smooth," with no external anatomy visible (McDougall, 2013).

In this thesis I examine the rhetoric and logic used to articulate reasons for undergoing FGCS through a comparative analysis of cosmetic surgeons' and women's own representations of motives for getting FGCS. I analyze surgeons' websites as well as FGCS online forums written by women who have undergone, or are considering undergoing, FGCS. This research design aims to explore the relationship(s) between the reasons women describe for FGCS, the reasons surgeons' websites describe for FGCS, how such procedures are being promoted on these websites, and women's own insecurities about their genitalia. This will allow me to examine if there are certain similarities that suggest a shared discourse among FGCS patients (or potential patients) and surgeons' websites.

Research Questions and Objectives

This thesis aims to address two key questions, which act as the foundation for my analysis: First, how are participants in female genital cosmetic surgery online forums articulating their reasons for undergoing, or contemplating undergoing, genital cosmetic procedures? Secondly, how are surgeons' websites, which advertise female genital cosmetic surgery, articulating the reasons for women to undergo genital cosmetic procedures? While this project began with a very specific purpose – to uncover why women are choosing to have FGCS according to both women and clinic websites – important factors quickly became clear through the process of data collection. It became clear that how women's bodies and genitals are discussed by surgeons and women themselves before and after FGCS, as well as the amount of information on the potential risks and successes of FGCS presented on surgeons' websites, were likely to be important

elements that condition women's reasons for choosing FGCS, which might, in turn, contribute to the growing demand of these procedures.

My research has five, interrelated objectives. First, this study aims to provide insight into why women might be willing to undergo FGCS, despite the lack of reliable information on the potential risks and long-term outcomes. Secondly, I wish to better understand how women who are contemplating undergoing FGCS and those who have actually undergone such procedures think about FGCS, as there is only limited knowledge of this in the literature on the subject. Thirdly, this research aims to contribute to the current debate on FGCS in the feminist literature by exploring women's views on FGCS, which have not been previously investigated. The fourth objective is to examine how FGCS procedures are being marketed and presented on clinic websites, as these websites are a primary source of discourse surrounding female genital cosmetic surgery, and currently there is minimal research on them in the literature. Lastly, this research aims to explore some of the broader implications of the growing popularity of FGCS. Academic critique of elective genital cosmetic surgeries is vital, particularly as these procedures are increasingly common, and yet there is minimal evidence concerning the long-term risks and outcomes associated with them.

Section III: Thesis Structure

In the second chapter, I present my analytical framework, which has greatly influenced and helped to shape my overall approach to this study. I then move on to the literature and theoretical debates surrounding cosmetic surgery and women's bodies. I also explore literature on the "sexualization of culture," and end with an examination of the idea of an aesthetic ideal of the female genitals.

In Chapter Three I outline the methodology of this research and explain how this research was conducted. I also outline how the data were collected and analyzed, and I end with a consideration of the limitations of this research.

The purpose of the next two chapters is to report on and explore the study's findings. In particular, in Chapter Four I provide a detailed description of the reasons and motivations women articulate for undergoing FGCS, and how these reasons are represented on surgeons' websites. I also explore what it means to be an "ideal" cosmetic patient as opposed to a "passive" one and examine the potential risks and "successes" of FGCS, as reported by women themselves and the clinic websites. Finally, in Chapter Five I examine the concept of medicalization and the implications this process may have for women. I explore medicalization by examining women's experiences with FGCS as well as surgeons' websites, and I report and discuss findings on how medicalization impacts the way in which women view their genitals. This is done by examining four key themes: first, I examine medicalization occurring at both the "conceptual" and "interactional" level (Conrad & Kern, 1986); second, I discuss findings regarding the way in which women and surgeons' websites are "speaking" about women's bodies, and in particular, about women's genitals before and after surgery; third, I explore how "normal" " and "abnormal" genitals are described by women and surgeons; lastly, I end with an examination of the "before" and "after" (FGCS) photographs found on surgeons' websites.

The final chapter summarizes the findings and discusses the significance of this study— focusing on why people should care about this research, and why this topic

warrants investigation. The chapter ends with recommendations for the direction of future research.

Chapter Two: Theoretical Framework & Literature Review

My analysis is situated on the razor's edge between a feminist critique of the cosmetic surgery craze (along with the ideologies of feminine inferiority which sustain it) and an equally feminist desire to treat women as agents who negotiate their bodies and their lives within the cultural and structural constraints of a gendered social order (Davis, 1995, p.5).

Section I: Chapter Outline and Theoretical Influences

Given that the increase in elective FGCS procedures raises many questions and concerns for feminist researchers, my research is heavily influenced by, and based within, a feminist framework. The questions guiding this research emerge from the conflicting feminist theories on FGCS, in particular, and on cosmetic surgery, in general.³ I draw upon several key theoretical frameworks in this chapter in order to produce a theoretical understanding of women's participation and awareness of the cultural forces that are at play in the construction of femininity and beauty.

More specifically, this chapter begins by briefly discussing the difference between cosmetic surgery and reconstructive surgery. I argue that this is an important distinction, particularly in this study, which focuses on cosmetic surgery, given that the reasons for undergoing cosmetic surgery compared to reconstructive surgery often differ significantly. Next, this chapter outlines the two main theoretical frameworks that have informed my interest in this topic as a whole and my approach to this study. I then outline the debates regarding (female genital) cosmetic surgery found within the feminist literature on women's bodies. Next, I move to an exploration of literature concerning how the "sexualization of culture" has influenced or changed the way individuals (and women in particular) experience forms of sexual involvement. As well, I examine how

12

³ Please refer to Chapter One, page 8 for an outline of the two primary questions guiding this research.

the "sexualization of culture" has contributed to an emphasis on women's bodies and the impact this has on the FGCS industry. This chapter ends with a discussion of the idea of an aesthetic "ideal" of the female genitals and its possible implications.

Cosmetic Surgery Versus Reconstructive Surgery

It is important to begin this chapter by reviewing the history of cosmetic surgery in order to better understand the main differences between cosmetic surgical practice and reconstructive surgery. In his book, Making the body beautiful: A cultural history of aesthetic surgery (1999), historian Sander Gilman illustrates the difference between cosmetic or aesthetic surgery and reconstructive surgery. Understanding this difference is necessary because each practice is viewed, and often studied, through distinct perspectives, analyses and ideologies. In particular, because this study is focused specifically on cosmetic surgery rather than reconstructive surgery, it is worth noting the distinction between the two, since cosmetic surgery patients often differ from reconstructive surgery patients in significant ways. Most importantly, patients of noncosmetic surgical practices often hope they do not need to undergo surgery, whereas cosmetic surgery patients want to undergo the surgery (Khoo, 2009). Reconstructive surgery is recognized as repairing the function to a part of the body; cosmetic surgery, however, is classified as any procedure performed without medical necessity (Gilman, 1999). Specifically, cosmetic surgery is defined as "operations or other procedures that revise or change the appearance, color, texture, structure or position of bodily features to achieve what patients perceive to be more desirable" (Khoo, 2009, p. 237).

According to Gilman (1999), it was not until the Middle Ages that a distinction was made between reconstructive surgery and cosmetic surgery. Only with the

Renaissance did surgeons begin to discuss aesthetic or cosmetic surgery (Gilman, 1999). As Gilman notes, Enlightenment ideology declared an individual was able to transform their physical self in search of happiness, and such ideologies have supplied the foundation for a modern culture entrenched with dominant beauty-ideals and cosmetic surgery. This practice, or as some scholars argue, this "culture" of cosmetic surgery (Blum, 2003), is thought to accomplish a "normal-like" appearance often promoted by popular media.

Theoretical Influences

Feminist scholarship on cosmetic surgery reveals a multiplicity of perspectives. Some scholars write of the oppressiveness of cosmetic surgery while others tout its ability to empower women. Interestingly, these perspectives are not always mutually exclusive or in opposition to one another - indeed such approaches can overlap. These feminist contributions help us frame the motives and pressures felt by women to obtain cosmetic surgery in the context of particular desired outcomes (for instance, the achievement of feminine beauty ideals).

There are two theoretical approaches in particular that have largely informed this research and which I have found most useful for attempting to understand women's decisions to undergo female genital cosmetic surgery: Davis' (1995) approach to cosmetic surgery and Braun's (2010) perspective on female genital cosmetic surgery. Both feminist theorists take an original and thoughtful approach throughout their research on cosmetic surgery in general, and female genital cosmetic surgery in particular. Rather than representing the women who elect such surgeries as victims, they instead attempt to create a theoretical understanding of women's agency in these procedures without

relegating them to the position of "cultural dupe." These frameworks highlight women's active and knowledgeable struggles within the cultural and structural restrictions of femininity and the beauty system.

Kathy Davis' (1995) perspective on cosmetic surgery in general is a helpful framework, as she argues that rather than understanding women who elect to undergo cosmetic surgery as "brain-washed victims of media hype" or simply as "cultural dupes" of our patriarchal beauty culture, we ought to "explore how women actually experience and negotiate their bodies in the context of many promises and few options" (Davis, 1995, p. 49). These few options are defined and limited by the idealized beauty standards set in place for women in Western culture, where restricted notions of what is considered to be "normal" lie. Such idealized concepts of beauty tend to limit the range of bodies considered beautiful, and do not reflect the diversity of female bodily forms; by placing importance on whiteness, thinness, youth, and conventional femininity, beauty ideals leave little room for ethnic, age, physiological, or gender variations. Though a significant amount of the existing work on FGCS seems to assume that women who have undergone or who want to undergo cosmetic surgery are, to one extent or another, "cultural dupes" (see Morgan, 1991; Negrin, 2002), I aim to avoid such assumptions by viewing women's choices to pursue FGCS as expressions of active agency.

An additional feminist standpoint that informs this research is that of Virginia Braun (2010). Braun suggests that the practice of FGCS can potentially relieve the distress a woman feels about her genitalia, while simultaneously creating a situation that is worse for women overall, creating yet another body-worry and a particular norm for women to live up to. Therefore, while the new surgically altered body of a woman is able

to make the woman feel adequate and appreciated, this newly modified body also produces new standards of "beauty" against which other women will subsequently be judged. A person's relationship with cosmetic surgery is complex; for example, cosmetic surgery may be liberating at the individual level while also reinforcing oppressive images of female beauty and normalcy at the societal level. At the societal level the woman who undergoes cosmetic surgery is believed to help propagate the strict and limited standards of our "beauty" culture.

In this study my purpose is to employ a theoretical framework, which allows me to develop an understanding of women who choose to undergo female genital cosmetic surgery as agents who often have surgery as a way to survive, and indeed, thrive, within a cultural context that offers women few other options to choose from. I believe it is important to appreciate the agency women who have cosmetic surgery employ. However, at the time same, it is of equal importance not to lose sight of the (restrictive) social context within which women make choices regarding their bodies.

Section II: Theoretical Debates Surrounding Cosmetic Surgery

Cosmetic Surgery as Oppressive

Early feminist critiques of cosmetic surgery typically see the practice as a violation of a woman's body for the purpose of reaching an unrealistic cultural ideal. In fact, some scholars go as far as to suggest that cosmetic surgery can be understood as an "extreme form of medical misogyny," as explained by feminist theorist, Kathy Davis (1991, p. 22) (though Davis herself does not share this view). This perspective critiques the practice of cosmetic surgery as the ultimate invasion of the woman's body in order

to meet current feminine ideals of attractiveness. This criticism continues to circulate in feminist discussions of cosmetic surgery today (see Abate, 2010; Negrin, 2002).

Undergoing cosmetic surgery is largely viewed as surrendering to patriarchal demands of beauty. This process tends to be understood as transforming a woman's body in accordance with prevalent ideals of feminine beauty. In fact, many feminist scholars argue that what seem to be examples of "choice" regarding women's decisions to have cosmetic surgery are seen instead as examples of conformity (Gimlin, 2000; Morgan, 1991; Negrin, 2002). A commonly held belief among feminist academics who take the position that cosmetic surgery is an oppressive beauty practice is that women who have had cosmetic surgery experience some form of extreme body-hatred. This bodily-hatred is a consequence of the coercion experienced in our patriarchal society, whereby standards and definitions of what it means to be "beautiful," "normal" and "healthy" (for women in particular) are socially and culturally dictated (Balsamo, 1996; Pitts-Taylor, 2007, Suchet, 2009). The problem with these concepts is that they are always in flux and therefore they can never be attained once and for all, but rather require constant beauty work.

In her article, *Women and the Knife: Cosmetic Surgery and the Colonization of Women's Bodies*, Morgan (1991) argues that women are coerced into undergoing cosmetic surgery. She believes that cosmetic surgery creates a kind of "technological beauty imperative." That is, by making feminine ideals of youth and beauty "technologically achievable" cosmetic surgery also makes "obligatory the appearance of youth and the reality of 'beauty' for every woman who can afford it" (Morgan, 1991, p.

⁴ Women may aim to achieve one or all of these, as they are not inclusive or exclusive. For example, a woman may sacrifice "health" for the sake of "beauty," but similarly, a woman may understand "beauty" as being "healthy."

40/41). The key to this lies in what she refers to as the three "paradoxes of choice" (Morgan, 1991, p. 35), which are situations that leave women with no real options at all but to have cosmetic surgery. Morgan distinguishes three such paradoxes. First, "The Choice of Conformity," means that what may seem like an optimal situation of consideration, deliberation, and autonomy tends to represent compliancy at a more complex level (Morgan, 1991, p. 36). The second paradox is referred to as "Liberation into Colonization" (Morgan, 1991, p. 36). This refers to the idea that while the rhetoric surrounding cosmetic surgery is of liberation, self care, and of "making the most of yourself," in actuality, Morgan argues that a woman undergoes these procedures for the approval of others — "the lover, the taunting students, the employer, the social peers" (p. 38). The third paradox known as "Coerced Voluntariness and the Technological Imperative" refers to the notion that the "technological beauty imperative and the pathological inversion" of the normal are forcing women to "choose" cosmetic surgery (Morgan, 1991, p. 41). Morgan concludes her article by stating that in a culture such as our own where the pressure to perform a narrow and specific kind of "beauty" and femininity is constantly mounting, and which is increasingly achieved at the hands of a cosmetic surgeon, refusal and noncompliance can come at a high price (Morgan, 1991).

In similar fashion, some feminist scholars argue that living in a surgical age reinforces women's submissiveness to what Wolf (1990) refers to as the "beauty myth." Wolf suggests that the "beauty myth" strikes women both physically and psychologically leading them to "freely" give in to practices that are similar to torture, such as cosmetic surgery. This means that women are expected to do everything in their power to maintain attractiveness in our current "beauty culture" no matter how painful that may be. Further,

it is argued that by understanding cosmetic surgery as an acceptable beauty practice, both facial and bodily features that are not culturally acceptable become progressively contingent; "ugliness" becomes a woman's choice and responsibility (Tait, 2007). This leads to the idea that new options for staying young and looking beautiful immediately turn into new *duties*; women are *responsible* for their "beauty" and, consequently, for their "flaws," as if every woman has equal access to the means to "fix" them. Therefore, the cultural ideal of femininity and beauty eventually becomes the cultural *norm* and the desire for intervention (i.e., cosmetic procedures) leads to the desire to be "normal." This idea of "beauty" set in place for women reinforces restrictive notions of normality. Concepts of beauty tend to limit possible variations of beautiful bodies, and do not relate to the majority of women; by placing importance on white, thin, young and feminine ideals, beauty leaves little room for ethnic, age, gender or physiological variations.

Finally, some feminist scholars go so far as to suggest that women who "succumb to societal pressures" (Abate, 2010, p.726) about their appearance by electing to have cosmetic surgery ought to be viewed as suffering from a sort of patriarchal brainwashing or "pathological illness" (Pitts-Taylor, 2007). Supposedly, cosmetic surgery is suggested to reveal "something deep about the individual self" (Pitts-Taylor, 2007, p. 20).

According to Pitts-Taylor (2007), some feminist scholars understand women who have cosmetic surgery as "sick" patients whose psyches have been rendered pathological as a result of a patriarchal culture. Bordo (1989) argues that within this patriarchal culture, practices such as cosmetic surgery transform women into "docile bodies" (Bordo, 1989, as cited in Davis, 1991, p. 28). Bordo further suggests that the normalization of women's

bodies becomes "an amazingly durable and flexible strategy of social control" (Bordo, 1989, p. 14, as cited in Davis, 1991, p. 28).

I believe feminist arguments, which provide a strong critique of oppressive beauty techniques such as cosmetic surgery are useful, as they demonstrate the need for social change by showing how certain social structures influence women's decisions to have cosmetic surgery. However, this type of argument leaves limited room to consider women's agency. As Davis' argument points out, it is crucial to examine women's involvement with cosmetic surgery. Davis stresses women's agency throughout her book, Reshaping The Female Body (1995), and argues that cosmetic surgery is not simply imposed on women, but rather they also fervently desire it. Women who choose to have cosmetic surgery should not automatically be understood as "cultural dupes;" rather, women who have cosmetic surgery are also capable of making decisions and taking responsibility for their actions, and their agency should not be over looked. It is important to keep in mind that while women may desire cosmetic surgery, the roots of those desires may come from the beauty standards that are imposed on them by the cultural context in which they live. This means that part of imposing standards of beauty and normality includes creating the desire to attain them.

Cosmetic Surgery as Empowering

The discussion surrounding feminist perspectives on cosmetic surgery has broadened to include autonomy and choice, largely due to Davis' influential work, *Reshaping the Female Body* (1995). She was the first to depart from what was then the expected feminist condemnation of cosmetic surgery; instead, she saw women who undergo cosmetic surgery as cultural mediators, trying to survive in a culture where

women are judged by the sum of their parts (Davis, 2995; Gimlin, 2000). As a result of Davis's work, some (albeit a minority of) feminist scholars argue that, under certain conditions, cosmetic surgery can be seen as a form of empowerment, as it allows a woman to change her identity and, ultimately, her sense of self (Davis, 1995; Pitts-Taylor, 2007). This idea has given rise to a more diverse position than the perspective that cosmetic surgery is oppressive; it considers women who have cosmetic surgery as individuals who recognize the social pressures that surround "beauty" and who want to maintain or enhance their appearance and, respectively, their status in society (Abate, 2010). As Davis states, "cosmetic surgery is about exercising power under conditions which are not of one's own making" (Davis, 1995, p. 163). From this view, women who elect to undergo cosmetic surgery are recognized as being savvy negotiators who are able to make it in a culture where women are continually scrutinized because of their appearance. Some scholars suggest that these women attempt to negotiate their bodies within the social and cultural limitations in which they live, thereby expressing autonomy as best they can in restrictive circumstances (Davis, 1995; Pitts-Taylor, 2007). Based on this understanding, undergoing cosmetic surgery does not appear to be surrendering to existing patriarchal notions of beauty; rather, cosmetic surgery is about choosing to conduct a more consistent identity, one that may very well better suit how the woman has always imagined herself. By providing a way for women to construct a new sense of identity, it seems reasonable that some view such practices has having liberating and empowering effects by "allow[ing] women to express what they feel are more 'authentic' selves and to feel free" (Davis, 1995, p. 82 as cited in Tait, 2007, p.

121). Indeed, in a world in which women are largely judged by how they appear, the notion that they can change their appearance is certainly liberating for some.

Bodily technologies like cosmetic surgery not only give women the means and power to "freely" express their "true" selves (though the true selves they choose to alter almost always mirror the patriarchal standards of femininity and beauty); they also allow women to use these practices as a way to challenge or disrupt the cultural and social constructions of femininity and beauty (Wesely, 2003). That is, women are able to use cosmetic surgery as a way to protest the feminine body ideal by undergoing cosmetic procedures that will ultimately transform their bodies into the antithesis of what cosmetic surgery intends. In other words, one can manipulate cosmetic surgery procedures, which are most often used for the purpose of attaining cultural ideals of femininity, beauty and attractiveness, in such a way as to question the hegemonic notions of female beauty. The use of cosmetic surgery to transform the body into the opposite of the cultural feminine and beauty ideal is best witnessed when examining the case of French performance artist, Orlan. Orlan is well known for her radical body art in which she has her face surgically refashioned before the camera for people to see. With the use of a computer-synthesized ideal self, which consisted of a portrait based on features taken from women in famous works of art, such as the forehead of Da Vinci's Mona Lisa, and the chin of Botticell's Venus, Orlan began the process to transform herself. She called her project "The Reincarnation of Saint Orlan" (Gilman, 1999). It is important to note that Orlan did not choose these women for their beauty, but rather for the stories that are associated with them (Davis, 1997). Thus, instead of having cosmetic surgery for "rejuvenation" or "beautification" reasons, Orlan uses cosmetic surgery as a

method for a different project. For instance, Orlan chose to change her male cosmetic surgeon to a feminist female one after the male surgeon complained about having to make Orlan too ugly and instead wanted to keep her "cute" (Davis, 1997). Orlan insisted on being the creator of her body, not just the creation. She explained that she wanted to be the one who decides what happens to her body instead of a passive subject of another's decision.

These feminist contributions reveal a diversity of perspectives: cosmetic surgery can be empowering, oppressive, coercive, choice-based, or both. Across these perspectives, feminists continue to interpret cosmetic surgery as a means to achieve or rebel against feminine beauty ideals, and to highlight the motives and pressures women often encounter to obtain cosmetic surgeries.

While it is crucial that women who have undergone or who want to undergo cosmetic surgery are not viewed simply as "cultural dupes," it is of equal importance to understand the multiple social, cultural, and economic influences women experience when choosing to undergo cosmetic surgery. The most popular argument in the feminist and social scientific literature is that the "sexualization of culture" and specifically the "pornosphere" are main influences on women's decisions to have cosmetic surgery, and in particular, FGCS (see Brain, 2013). While the evidence presented in such literatures is compelling, it is also important to consider other factors that influence women's choices to undergo surgery. In particular, feminist scholars have discussed how the construction of women's bodies within particular social and cultural contexts will be viewed, evaluated, and treated (Bartky, 1990). As such, a consequence of living in a

⁵ The following section provides a detailed discussion of the "sexualization of culture" and the "pornosphere."

patriarchal society is that women are continually scrutinized, critiqued, and judged by the "male gaze" (Bartky, 1990). An unfortunate consequence of the male gaze is that women are conditioned to view themselves as objects of this gaze and therefore tend to become major consumers of products and services (i.e., FGCS) aimed at altering their body parts to meet current cultural feminine ideals.

Furthermore, a third contributing factor influencing women's decisions to have FGCS is the process of medicalization. Put simply, medicalization refers to a process through which an aspect of one's life comes to be considered pathological and a medical problem (Conrad, 1992). For example, feeling uncomfortable about one's appearance is now largely understood by both medical professionals and women as a medical "problem" that can be addressed with surgery. Thus, women who may be unhappy with the appearance of their genitals are turning to medical experts in order to "fix" this apparent medical "problem."

Section III: The "Sexualization of Culture"

A significant body of literature suggests that the idealized standard of vaginal "beauty," along with the development of a narrow aesthetic of the vulva, is linked to mainstream pornography (Braun, 2010), specifically, and the "sexualization of culture," more generally (Attwood, 2006; McNair, 2002; McRobbie, 2009). "Sexualized culture" is a new form of sexual involvement, which refers to "contemporary preoccupations with sexual values, practices and identities, the emergence of new forms of sexual experience and the apparent breakdown of rules, categories and regulations designed to keep the obscene at bay" (Attwood, 2006, p. 77).

⁶ Please refer to page 25, "The Gaze of The Other," for a deeper understanding of the male gaze.

⁷ The process of medicalization will be explored in further detail in Chapter Five.

Consumer goods and consumption dominate the contemporary West and are becoming progressively occupied with depictions and representations of sex. Traditionally it has been thought that men are more concerned with the appearance of their genitals than woman. However, women are proving to be more anxious about their genital appearance now than ever before. The number of FGCS procedures that have been performed in the United States and Canada within the past decade is not entirely clear. Evidence for the increasing number of women experiencing genital anxiety is manifested in the growing number of surgeons offering FGCS procedures, and the growing number of women undergoing them.⁸ Indeed, more women than ever before are now turning to genital cosmetic surgery in order to reduce the anxiety they experience towards their genitals. According to the American Society for Aesthetic Plastic Surgery, more than 3500 female genital cosmetic surgeries were performed in 2012, representing an increase of 64% from the previous year (American Society for Aesthetic Plastic Surgery, 2013). Presumably, this distress is in part due to the mainstreaming of the sex industry and the increased exposure to nudity though print media and the Internet. References to "striptease culture" (McNair, 2002), "raunch-culture" (Evans, Riley & Shankhar, 2010; McNair, 2002), "porno-chic" (Evans, Riley & Shankhar, 2010; McNair, 2002; Whitehead & Kurz, 2009), the "pornosphere" (McNair, 2002), and the "pornographication of the mainstream" (Attwood, 2006; McNair, 2002; Whitehead & Kurz, 2009) point to the argument that those who live within contemporary consumer societies are exposed to, and participate in, the increased depiction of sexualized persons as a means of commerce. A primary schema on which consumer societies rely,

-

⁸ Please refer to Chapter One, pages 5/6 for statistics on the growing number of surgeons performing FGCS and women undergoing these procedures.

particularly with advertising, operate under the notion that "sex sells." Such schema creates an environment ripe with depictions of women's bodies whereby the body becomes an object and a commodity. However, the images that are depicted through these media outlets often misrepresent the female body. As a consequence of digital modification images of women's bodies are often airbrushed to fit a particular norm of perfection (Green, 2005, as cited in Schick, Rima & Calabrese, 2011). Such versions of perfection are well documented throughout said media outlets, however, an investigation into why and how perfection is represented in this way, as important as it is, falls outside the parameters of this research.

The Gaze of The "Other"

Bodies are visible; they can be seen, and appearance and behavior are often subject to the gaze of the other. Indeed, some feminist theorists, such as Sandra Lee Bartky, suggest that women are in "a state of conscious and permanent visibility" (Bartky, 1998, p. 42, as cited in Dolezal, 2010, p. 358). As Attwood (2006) suggests, a major drawback of the "sexualization of culture" is that such a culture makes women's bodies (and thus their genitalia) more widely accessible for supervision and regulation, which makes women's appearance and bodily behavior subject to constant social scrutiny. This supervision and regulation is a ramification of our "sexualized culture," which makes women's sexuality open to wide audiences for regular supervision. Women become the object of the male gaze when they are marketed as sexualized objects (Durham, 2008; Hughes, 2001; McRobbie, 2002). However, studies have also suggested that the

⁹ The notion that "sex sells" does not refer explicitly to the sexualization of women's bodies – though it most often manifests as such, the idea that "sex sells" can be represented in advertisements by objects as mundane as furniture or food.

26

"sexualization of culture" does not simply reinforce the male gaze, but it also helps to produce a feminine "self-policing narcissistic gaze" (Gill, 2003, p. 101, as cited in Attwood, 2006, p. 83). This "self-policing narcissistic gaze" allows women to police other women's sexual and gender identities as well as their own through the same process as the male gaze.

Neoliberal Markets

The previously mentioned self-policing behaviors are believed to have emerged from the "medical marketing model of the neoliberal markets of Western societies" (Neasbitt & Rodriguez, 2011, p. 18). This model encourages self-policing behaviors, which include taking personal responsibility over, and participating in, the selfimprovement of one's own body as well as the monitoring and policing of others' bodies (Neasbitt & Rodriguez, 2011). Such self-policing behaviors include women taking personal responsibility over, and participating in, the self-improvement of their bodies and genitals. Neasbitt and Rodriguez (2011) argue that this medical marketing model, along with the neoliberal markets, reinforce a reward-like system whereby particular consumer behaviors are openly approved. When such behaviors are supported by media and driven by capitalist consumption they tend to become behaviors that are rewarded, and therefore striven for by others and by society as a whole. The authors use the example of the celebration of the "early adopters" to showcase this reward system. In reference to genital cosmetic surgery, these "early adopters" are the women who were prepared to undergo FGCS procedures before such surgeries were more widely accepted and advertised. According to Tiefer (2010), in discourses surrounding neoliberalism, these types of women – the "early adopters" – are thought of as brave and "empowered

consumers." As a result, these "brave" and "empowered" women are believed to embody agency and power, and are thought to be savvy consumers who made use of new technologies in order to improve their bodies (and in particular, their genitals) (Neasbitt & Rodriguez, 2011). The highly publicized result of the women's behavior was admiration by other women and the continuing development of an aesthetic ideal of the female genitals.

Media and Technology

To argue that media depictions of the female body have the potential to affect women's perceptions of their own body would be to state the obvious. Indeed, we live in what Bordo refers to as "the empire of images" in which the media dictates aesthetic ideals (Bordo, 2003, p. 16, as cited in McDougall, 2013, p. 778). In the late twentieth century and early twenty-first century, media in the West produced an unprecedented amount of sexually explicit material. This material was marketed, sold, bought, and reproduced with ease as a result of our consumer societies (Gill, 2009; Holmberg, 1998). Beyond the academy, domains such as art, journalism, popular entertainment and mass media, to name a few, had used the representations of pornography (i.e., "sex-sells") in non-pornographic ways (referred to as "pornochic"). Additionally, McNair (2002) argues that women and men have easier access to sexually explicit material as a result of emerging technology (i.e., new technological developments); he refers to this as the "pornosphere." Indeed, it can be argued that the perceptions of female genitalia and its sexual function has been shaped and influenced by cultural aesthetic standards and ideals as a result of these sexually explicit media images. Such perceptions may be particularly instrumental in shaping women's consciousness of their own genital appearance, thus

resulting in the development of a standard aesthetic for women's genitalia.

Section IV: The Aesthetic Ideal

It is important to explore academic literature on standardization and the aesthetic ideal because it brings attention to the way in which the construction of ideals, and their relationship with ideas of normalcy, are progressively encroaching on (women's) bodily integrity. Some scholars point to the argument that "crotch shots" in pornography have reinforced women's awareness of their genitalia to a point where women have begun to compare their genitals to a specific ideal (Appleyard & Smith, 2001, as cited in Green, 2005). Since many images of women's bodies and genitals are often digitally modified (as previously discussed), this comparison may create worry of an "abnormal" or flawed genital appearance, which is thought to reinforce the demand for FGCS. According to Schick, Rima & Calabrese (2011), women may be particularly susceptible to developing distorted impressions of their genitalia as a result of exposure to these images. ¹⁰

Clear standards of beauty and normality exist for women's bodies in all cultures (Braun & Kitzinger, 2001). Braun and Kitzinger (2011) suggest that the Western ideal of the female body in particular is a site for unlimited improvements. They suggest that the idea of a "perfect vagina" is evidence that specific norms for the body have extended to the "private" domain, as well. As Jennifer Blake, CEO of the Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists of Canada, states on her personal web blog titled, *Women and Health*, "In

This argument is based off a study conducted by the authors in 2008, which found that "women exposed to a set of images of vulvas pre-labiaplasty judged their own labia

29

women exposed to a set of images of vulvas pre-labiaplasty judged their own labia minora to be significantly smaller, compared to women exposed to a set of images of the same vulvas post-labiaplasty" (i.e., with surgically reduced labia minora) (Shick, Rima & Calabrese, 2011, p. 79).

the west women have for years been free to have their genitals just be, and now we are having some imposed notions of how we are supposed to look" (Blake, J., 2011, "Cosmetic labioplasty: snip cut: is it OK to cut our labia," para. 12). It is argued that today some female genitals are thought to be more aesthetically pleasing than others by both women and men (which contributes to the development of an idealized image for female genitals) (McDougall, 2013). As previously stated, the "sexualization of culture" as well as the mainstreaming of the sex industry and increased access to the Internet, which grants (unlimited) access to various kinds of pornography, has resulted in a heightened awareness of female genital aesthetics. Women are increasingly altering their genitals in favor of the genital aesthetic ideal through such means as genital hair removal and grooming, and in more extreme and invasive cases, through the use of cosmetic genital surgeries (McDougall, 2013). The question thus remains – what is the vulvar aesthetic ideal? This increasingly specific and visible ideal of the female genitals is often described as a single "clean slit" (McDougall, 2013) or crease. More specifically, this idealized image appears to have symmetrical and very little visible labia minora, which are homogeneously pink and smooth (as in hairless or strictly groomed) (Braun and Wilkinison, 2001, as cited in McDougall, 2013). This idealized image makes women's genitals more easily visible for regulation and scrutiny (Braun & Kitzinger, 2001, p. 264). What is problematic about this ideal other than the fact that it is largely unattainable (without undergoing FGCS) is that it works against genital diversity, and bodily variations, creating a hegemonic ideal of highly homogenous female genitalia.

The Power of Images

Through an experimental study consisting of three groups of women (one of which

was a control group), Moran and Lee (2014) found that women who viewed modified images of the vulva rated these modified images as more "normal" than the non-modified vulvas. However, the control group (those who were not pre-exposed to modified nor non-modified vulvas) rated the images of the non-modified vulvas as more "normal" than the modified vulvas. As the authors had predicted, all three groups of women rated the images of the modified vulvas as more likely to represent society's ideal then the non-modified images. This study demonstrates that exposure to images of modified vulvas can influence women's perceptions of what is "normal" and attractive, thereby affecting women's (and other's) ideas of what the female genitalia ought to resemble.

McDougall (2013) suggests that soft-core pornography plays a significant role in the development of this standard vulvar aesthetic ideal. The female genitalia visible within this type of media tend to be neat, symmetrical and altered digitally to "perfection" (McDougall, 2013). The neat and tidy genitals found in soft-core pornography have since become the ideal for female genitals, and as Kilbourne suggests in her 2010 documentary, *Killing Us Softly 4: Advertising's Images of Women*, images are processed subconsciously, and advertisements sell us more than products. She maintains that advertisements "sell values, images, and concepts of love, sexuality, success, and *normalcy;* they tell us who we are and who we should be" (my emphasis added) (Killing Us Softly, 2010). However, images in the media, and in particular, images in pornography, give a false impression of what "normal" (female) genitalia is, since such images are both selective and digitally altered. Schick, Rima & Calabrese's (2011) found through a content analysis of 647 centerfolds from *Playboy Magazine* that there was a noticeable similarity between the child's toy Barbie and *Playboy Magazine*

models regarding their representation of female genitalia. They note that though Barbie is regarded as a beauty icon, her sexual anatomy is concealed and incomplete, as she lacks any defined genitalia, though her chest is clearly defined. What is interesting in the authors' study is that they found this same *misrepresentation* of female sexuality (one which evidently hides female genitalia) reappearing in human form; the images present in the *Playboy Magazine* similarly highlighted breasts and underemphasized the female genitals, depicting them as hairless and smooth in a rather prepubescent light.

Despite the fact that women's genitals come in a large range of variations, the notion of an aesthetic ideal of the female genitals remains. However, there is great difficulty in defining "normal" female genitals. To begin, describing "normal" female genitals automatically suggests that there are "abnormal" female genitals, which suggests that there is a distinct binary between "normal" and "abnormal" female genitalia. What defines "normal" and "abnormal" female genitalia tends to be contingent on sociocultural representations of the female body and genitals, and thereby restricting the notion of what is "normal" female genitalia broadens the definition of what is believed to be "abnormal" female genitalia. The result of narrowing the idea of what constitutes "normal" female genitals again leads to an increase in desire and demand for FGCS procedures.

Body Positive Blogs

Fortunately, with the rise of technological advancements and online message boards in our technologically saturated society, there is now an increasing number of online body (and genitalia) positive blogs, websites, and forums for those women who feel insecure, unsure or victimized about their body or genitals. These online resources offer support for individuals and work to show just how diverse bodies (and genitals) truly are. For instance, an online project titled *Large Labia Project*, ¹¹ run by a twenty-five year old woman from Australia, aims to show that large labia (which are often referred to as "hypertrophic" and are believed to fall within the "abnormal" genital category) are in fact both "normal" and beautiful. Projects like this contribute to the growing demand for knowledge surrounding genital diversity, which helps perpetuate the increasing awareness of genital diversity.

Following Braun's approach to cosmetic surgery, as more women choose to have female genital cosmetic surgery, the more limited and restricted the acceptable range of "normal" genitalia becomes. Therefore, it is reasonable to argue that female genital cosmetic surgery contributes to the near-impossible aesthetic genital ideal that women experience pressure to live up to. As Elliot argued in his book, *Making the Cut: How Cosmetic Surgery is Transforming Our Lives* (2008), "cosmetic surgery culture promotes the very anxieties it seeks to quell" (Elliot, 2008, as cited by Morgan and Lee, 2013, p. 764).

Conclusion

In conclusion, this chapter has examined the theoretical frameworks I have chosen to use, which allow me to understand women who undergo female genital cosmetic surgery as active agents, while at the same time recognizing the problematic nature of cosmetic surgery, in that it only affords women "power" through their involvement and

33

_

¹¹ Please refer to http://largelabiaproject.org/.

participation in an oppressive beauty system. Next, this chapter explored three areas of literature that are key in examining the practice of genital cosmetic surgery. First, I have examined the feminist debates surrounding cosmetic surgery as an oppressive act versus cosmetic surgery as an empowering practice. I then examined literature on the "sexualization of culture." Finally, I have examined the idea of an aesthetic "ideal" for female genitals and what this ideal resembles, as well as possible implications having an idealized image of the female genitals may have.

In the next chapter I examine the methodology used for this research, explaining how the data were collected and examined, and ending with a reflection on the limitations of this study.

Chapter Three: Methods

This chapter outlines the methods and methodology that I employed to learn about and explore women's reasons for FGCS, and the ways in which such surgeries are marketed on surgeons' websites. In this chapter I begin by describing the study sample. From there I explain the data collection analytical approach and process. I then outline the processes used to code and categorize the data as well as the ethical considerations for my research. Next I discuss the strengths of my choice to conduct online research and outline some of the limitations of my chosen methodology.

Section I: The Study Sample

This thesis consisted of a comparative study and sought to first explore how participants in female genital cosmetic surgery online forums are articulating their reasons for undergoing, or contemplating undergoing, genital cosmetic procedures, and secondly, to explore how surgeons' websites, which advertise female genital cosmetic surgery, articulate the reasons for women to undergo genital cosmetic procedures. The data for my thesis was collected online between July 2014 and September 2014. Data were drawn from thirty surgeons' websites offering FGCS as well as thirty posts from online forums written by women who have had, or who are interested in having, FGCS. Qualitative research often employs an interpretive, naturalistic procedure to the subject matter; researchers who use qualitative methods seek to make sense of, or interpret, phenomena regarding the meanings and significance that individuals bring to them (Jones, 1995).

Thus, qualitative research is useful for developing an interpretive understanding of the reasons and motives women experience for undergoing FGCS, as well as the ways in which FGCS procedures are marketed on surgeons' websites.

The sources of information and data collection were sampled and chosen purposefully rather than randomly in order to meet the theoretical needs of this study. The websites that were analyzed throughout this study were attained through the use of search terms such as "female genital cosmetic surgery," "designer vagina," "American and Canadian female genital cosmetic surgery clinics," "FGCS message boards," and "cosmetic genital surgeries." The sample selected from the search results for the surgeons' websites was chosen based on how much information the websites offer on FGCS procedures and the like; the websites which provided the most detailed information on these procedures were selected. There are a limited number of online forums for women to discuss their experience(s) with FGCS. For this reason, the sample selected for this research was based on the online forums that had the most content. For example, some online forums contain only one or two posts about FGCS, or have not been updated (e.g., a user has not posted about their experience with FGCS) within the past year. I decided to gather data from the online forums that offered the most detailed content regarding women's experiences, reasons and feelings about female genital cosmetic surgery and forums that had been updated within the past two years, so as to generate data that reflects women's recent experiences with and views about FGCS. Focusing on online forum posts that had been recently updated, I collected data from 30 different online users who had posted about their experiences with FGCS in 2013 or 2014.

Though I was unable to narrow down my research sample of online forums to a geographical location, as people from anywhere in the world may access and choose to use these forums, I was able to focus on American and Canadian based forums, and have

attempted to identify when possible where most women on these online forums reside. When analyzing surgeons' websites offering FGCS, I was able to be more specific with the geographical location. For the purpose of this study, these websites have been limited to Canadian and American clinics. The reason for this chosen locale is because genital cosmetic procedures were first documented in North America. More specifically, the United States is currently one of the countries with the highest prevalence of cosmetic surgeries, which makes this location an important site of investigation. Though the rate of cosmetic surgery in Canada is not as high as the United States, I have a vested interest in understanding the FGCS industry in the country in which I grew up and currently reside.

Sample Characteristics

The 30 surgeons' websites, which make up half of my sample, include 30 surgeons who are men (at times there is more than one surgeon offering FGCS per clinic website) and only three women surgeons who offer genital cosmetic surgeries. Of the 30 posts by women on the female genital cosmetic surgery online forums, only 12 women provided their location: three were from Canada; four from the United States; four from Australia; and one from the UK. Out of these 30 women, 23 provided their age, while 7 did not. The medium age range appears to be between the age of 19 and 29 years old: 7 women were between 16-18 years old; one was 15 or younger; and one woman was between 30 and 40 years old. I should reiterate that the posts from the online forums were from both women who had undergone FGCS as well as those who were considering it. The most sought-out genital cosmetic surgery among women was labiaplasty (reduction of the labial lips) with 28 out of the 30 women stating this was the procedure they had undergone (at times this was combined with another type of genital surgery, such as

clitoral hood reduction, or vaginal tightening) or this was the procedure they were considering undergoing.

Section II: The Data Collection Process

Before beginning the actual data collection, I decided to first conduct a pilot test of my research coding instruments in order to make sure that the coding categories I had designed were appropriate for the clinic websites and the online forums. This process strengthened each coding instrument, as it allowed me to adjust the categories on the coding instruments into categories that were better suited for the websites and online forums. This process also provided an opportunity for me to develop new categories for each of the coding instruments. This helped elicit specific data from the websites and online forums, which was beneficial to the study as a whole.

During data collection, I used qualitative media content analysis, "a form of media analysis [that] explores how meanings are created and communicated within media, while maintaining an openness to the emergence of new concepts" (McGannon, Cunningham & Schink, 2013, p. 893). Content analysis is extremely well suited to analyzing multifaceted, sensitive phenomena, such as FGCS (Eto & Kyngas, 2008). Specifically, I draw upon Altheide's approach, which aims to be both systematic and analytic while not being too rigid (Altheide, 1996). It involves using pre-determined categories to guide the initial coding of data, while also remaining open to new categories and themes, including an "orientation toward *constant discovery* and *constant comparison* of relevant situations, settings, styles, images, [and] meanings" (Berg 1989; Glaser & Strauss, 1967 as cited in Altheide, 1996, p. 16). As Altheide (1996) writes "[media content analysis'] distinctive characteristic is the reflexive and highly interactive

nature of the investigator, concepts, data collection and analysis" (p.67). This approach encourages the researcher to develop new categories throughout the data collection. Such features are important for understanding the experience(s) of women, specifically, and the sensitive topic of FGCS more generally, as it is overly presumptuous of the researcher to assume that one person (the researcher) is capable of developing all categories that might emerge throughout the data collection. This approach requires the researcher to be cognizant of unforeseen, but equally important, categories that are likely to emerge throughout the data collection stage. This feature applies not only to written content, but extends to photographic images as well.

Using this data collection method, I analyzed thirty surgeons' websites (fifteen Canadian and fifteen American surgeons' websites) promoting genital cosmetic surgeries to women in order to identify how FGCS is marketed online throughout North America. Through analyzing the surgeons' websites, I believe that I was able to address accurately the ways in which these websites articulate the reasons women undergo genital cosmetic procedures, as well as how such surgeries are currently being marketed and framed, more generally. Additionally, I analyzed thirty posts on FGCS online forums in order to examine how women are speaking about their experiences and reasons for undergoing, or wanting to undergo, FGCS. I anticipated that this was the largest sample I could reasonably analyze in the time available for a Master's thesis.

The coding instruments used in the data collection (see Appendix A & B) included questions that were designed to address the two main areas of interest (as well as useful secondary areas of interest) in my study: 1) to uncover how participants in female genital cosmetic surgery online forums articulate their reasons for undergoing, or

contemplating undergoing, genital cosmetic procedures; and 2) to discover how surgeons' websites, which advertise FGCS, articulate reasons women undergo genital cosmetic procedures. Qualitative based questions were used to gather this information. Additional questions surrounding certain demographic characteristics (of the women in particular) were also developed. These questions were primarily based on age and geographical location.

The comparison between surgeons' websites and online forums is necessary for two reasons. First, the clinic websites and online forums are connected in the sense that the number of people using the Internet for health information ¹² is increasing rapidly (this will be explored in greater detail in "Section V: Online Research"), with women often being more likely than men to acquire health related information via the Internet. Second, a comparative analysis has allowed me to explore whether the way women are describing their desires and motives for FGCS matches what the surgeons' websites promote, or if what is being said on the forums is reflective of what is being marketed on the surgeons' websites. This allows me to see if the way women talk about reasons for FGCS are similar or different from the way the surgeons talk about it, which allows me to evaluate the validity of the claim that women are mere "cultural dupes" who are simply buying into surgeons' discourse wholesale – an important question throughout this research. The analysis of surgeons' websites allow me to examine if these websites transmit the types of messages that encourage women to see their non-surgically enhanced genitals as inherently flawed and as being in need of (medical) improvement.

¹² This is commonly referred to as "ehealth."

Instrumental Section

Though this research consists of a comparative analysis between FGCS online forums and surgeons' websites, the coding instruments that were used for the collection of data are not entirely identical. Although the questions on the coding sheets are similar in nature, and in some cases are exactly the same, there are a variety of questions that are specific to each kind of website (i.e., online forums or surgeons' websites). For example, the comparative aspects between the coding instruments are comprised of questions concerning the reasons and motives for wanting to undergo FGCS, how women's bodies and genitals are described before and after surgery on the forums and clinic websites, whether outside influences that might contribute to a woman wanting to undergo FGCS are discussed, and whether the concepts of liberation, empowerment, or oppression are mentioned regarding the procedures. On the other hand, the aspects of the coding instruments that ask website-specific questions focus on questions surrounding the images that are located on the surgeon's websites (women on the online forums do not post pictures of their surgery or genitalia), questions concerning whether success rates of the procedures are mentioned, as well as whether there is a cautionary section or section for alternative resources (such as counseling services) for women experiencing genital distress being offered on the clinic websites.

Section III: The Coding Process

My analysis for this research process is influenced by grounded theory methodology. Grounded theory is used to increase understanding of social phenomena (Glaser, 2005). Grounded theory encourages the researcher to read and re-read data as a process for discovering categories, concepts, and themes that emerge throughout the

coding process (Glaser, 2005). This is precisely what I did; I completed multiple readings (and re-readings) of the websites and online forums, as well as the codes and themes that had emerged throughout the coding process. The premise of grounded theory is that empirical inquiry should explore social phenomena through examining people's experiences. Therefore, this type of research is guided by the experiences of individuals in a study and the findings mimic patterns in these experiences (Simmons, 2006). This theory guides the researcher through a primarily inductive process "from which emerges a theory that is systematically grounded in data and therefore gets at real problems or issues in a system rather than those derived from conjecture or logical elaboration" (Simmons, 2006, p. 488). Grounded theory is especially useful for my research as it is often used as a methodology in order to understand social phenomena that are minimally addressed in the theoretical literature or in previous research.

Due to the lack of research on this topic, I have adopted a primarily inductive approach to my analysis. I say primarily inductive because there are already specific codes and questions in the coding instrument(s) as the starting point for my analysis. Since I structured the coding instruments prior to data collection, my approach is not entirely inductive, as this would mean that there would not be any prefabrication or structuring of the coding instrument(s) by the researcher and the data instead would "speak" for itself. The use of an inductive approach is recommended when knowledge about the phenomena being studied is fragmented and minimal (Elo & Kyngas, 2008), as is the case with female genital cosmetic surgery. An inductive approach to research tends to begin from a specific starting point instead of a fully developed hypothesis, and meaning and understanding develop as a result of the discovery process of inductive

reasoning. At the end of the induction process, a theory about the studied problem or phenomenon is expected to arise; therefore, inductive reasoning requires the researcher to move from the specific to the general (Nicholls, 2009). This approach has helped guide my analysis, by leaving me with a grounded, theoretical, and deeper understanding of how women are talking about their experiences and reasons for undergoing FGCS, as well as how surgeons are marketing these procedures and the role that surgeons play in shaping women's views of female genital cosmetic surgery.

One coding instrument was filled out for each clinic website as well as each post from the online forums. This resulted in one coding sheet saved as a word document for every website and online forum post, leading to thirty saved coding sheets for the clinic websites, and thirty saved coding sheets for the online forum posts, for a total of sixty saved coding sheets. Further, during the coding process, I often had to add an "other" category under certain code themes, as at times there would be (important) data that did not fit into one of the pre-structured themes.

The first step of the coding process involved using the coding instruments in order to collect the actual data from the surgeons' websites and online forums¹³. The coding instruments were a necessary preliminary step, as these instruments set me up for the more complex and specified type of coding known as open coding. The coding instruments used to collect my data allowed me to gather (relevant) information from surgeons' websites and online FGCS forums, which is the first step in any coding process, that is, the gathering of data. Without data to analyze, open coding would not be possible. Therefore, while the coding instruments allowed me to collect the research data,

_

¹³ Please refer to Section II: "The Data Collection Process" for a more detailed description of how the data were collected.

open coding allowed me to break down this data into smaller units of analysis in order to interpret it. Once I felt that I was familiar with the material collected during the data collection stage, which is what the coding instruments helped with, I then began with the process of open coding. This process involved going through the data question-byquestion, and line-by-line, with every sentence and word examined. During this analysis, concepts and categories emerged from the data and I began to write memos in order to identify possible patterns and links between the codes. I then began the process of recoding in order to develop clearly defined categories, which were eventually grouped into conceptual ideas. The next step I took was the process of comparative coding, which is an important feature in both grounded theory methodology and qualitative media content analysis, as this type of analysis calls for "constant comparison" of emergent themes and meanings (Berg, 1989; Glaser & Strauss, 1967 as cited in Altheide, 1996, p. 16). Therefore, I engaged in the process of coding and re-coding, categorizing and recategorizing, and a process of constant comparison and examination between the data in order to develop code themes and concepts. I continued this process until a level of theoretical saturation was reached (i.e., no new themes emerged and the code categories were well developed).

After saturation was reached, I moved on to the comparative aspect of this study. Since my thesis is a comparative study, I compared the themes and categories that emerged in each question from the clinic website coding instrument to the themes and categories that emerged in the same question from the online forum coding instrument. This provided me with a deeper understanding of the similarities and differences, as well as the interrelationships found among specific questions that were asked of both the

websites and online forums. For example, I compared the themes and categories that emerged from the question "What reasons are given for wanting to undergo FGCS?" from the clinic websites to the themes and categories that emerged from the same question from the online forums.

Section IV: Ethical Considerations

The clinic websites and online message forums analyzed for this research are publicly accessible without an account and can be easily found through major search engines such as Google SearchTM. ¹⁴ Although the subjects in this study did not directly consent to be involved in this research, their choice to post to a website that is publicly accessible through major search engines assumes that they are aware of the likelihood that their words will be read by others. Further, the online forums that were analyzed throughout this research clearly state that messages published on the forums are accessible to the general (online) public, and recommend that personal (possible identifying) information, such as the participant's real name, should not be included since any online user is able to gain access to posts. It is also important to note that in order to further protect women's privacy I have developed a set of pseudonyms for online user names.

Section V: Online Research

Over the last decade, the Internet has influenced how qualitative data is collected and interpreted. Choosing to conduct this research using media content analysis of online forums was a strategic decision, as this type of method is unobtrusive. The reason for undergoing FGCS is likely to be a sensitive and highly personal subject which women

45

¹⁴ Searching terms such as "female genital cosmetic surgery," "labiaplasty," or "designer vagina" yields a variety of the kinds of forums that will be analyzed in this study.

might be more likely to discuss in online discussion forums given the perceived anonymity of these virtual spaces. Online research is therefore particularly well suited to this project. I have chosen this method based on the assumption that women are more likely to discuss experiences and attitudes toward FGCS relatively freely online, to a community of their peers, than they would during face-to-face interviews with an unknown researcher.

Furthermore, given that this research is at the Master's level, both time and resources were limited and by employing online research rather than interviews, I was able to reach, in a relatively short period of time, a geographically scattered, somewhat closeted population that may otherwise be difficult to access. Additionally, because FGCS is such a sensitive topic and given that I am an inexperienced researcher with no counseling resources at my disposal to recommend to participants, I wanted to be as unobtrusive as possible in my choice of method. By not interacting directly with research participants, I am able to minimize potential harm (e.g. feelings of discomfort, loss of anonymity) to participants. Moreover, this method of data collection allowed me to sample from more (and more diverse) clinics as well as a wider range of women's accounts than would be possible if I conducted research in person.

Internet Trolling

A potential concern with this study is that, in online forums, it is easier for participants to misrepresent whom they actually are. For instance, the possibility of a man or woman who did not undergo FGCS or who is not contemplating such procedures posing as a woman who is currently in one of these circumstances, though not probable,

remains possible. However, the likelihood of an Internet troll visiting such a specific niche website, which does not garner much traffic (outside of the sub-culture at which it is aimed), seems very low.

The Internet As A Source Of Health Information

With the advent of digital culture, direct marketing for FGCS to consumers (rather than through referrals from medical specialists or health professionals) depends to a significant degree on the Internet. Surveys regularly demonstrate just how common the Internet is used when investigating health information. For instance, out of the 2.4 billion Internet users worldwide in 2012, between 60 to 80% of these users were found to have used the Internet to acquire health information (Minchieollo, Rahman, Dune, Scott & Dowsett, 2013). Further, according to a study by the Pew Internet & American Life Project (2011), 80% of American Internet users have obtained health information online, with women being most likely to do so (Fox, 2011, as cited in Hether, Murphy & Valente, 2014). Thus, it stands to reason that women seeking genital cosmetic surgeries are likely to visit surgeons' websites for information regarding such procedures. Scant published research on the marketing of FGCS on these websites has been located to date.

Because the Internet is a significant source for individuals who are seeking health information (particularly women), it is crucial to examine surgeons' websites in order to analyze how the industry is promoting and marketing FGCS to women. I have also explored how these websites are advertising reasons for women to undergo FGCS, as well as whether, and how, women's genitals and bodies pre-surgery that *warrant* surgery are being described. This research has also explored whether, and how, "right" and

"wrong," or "normal" and "abnormal" genitals are being discussed and presented on these websites.

Section VI: Study Limitations

One limitation of my chosen methodology is the fact that I did not conduct interviews with women who have undergone FGCS or are contemplating FGCS. I believe that if I had chosen to conduct interviews with these women, the research might be more persuasive to those who are skeptical of online research because they believe online participants often misrepresent their identities and experiences. 15 However, people also may lie or misrepresent themselves during interviews, either to make themselves appear more appealing, or to provide the data they think the interviewer may be looking for (this is commonly refereed to as "social desirability"). Furthermore, by conducting online research I was limited to the content already provided by the women on the online forums and thus unable to further probe certain themes. For example, a theme that emerged throughout the coding process was feelings of empowerment, which some women mentioned experiencing after undergoing FGCS. Unfortunately, the women's accounts I analyzed did not provide sufficient information to adequately understand what that aspect of the FGCS experience means to them. If I had conducted face-to-face interviews with women I would be able to explore more deeply the theme of empowerment, among other themes. Additionally, speaking with surgeons who have experience with FGCS would have provided the opportunity to further explore the reasons women undergo these procedures and the meanings behind such reasons.

In conclusion, this chapter has outlined the methodology, data collection and coding processes that were used throughout this research in order to collect, code,

¹⁵ Please refer to Section: V "Internet trolling."

interpret, and analyze the data that will be presented and discussed in depth in the following chapters.

In the next chapter, I present and discuss key findings from this research on the reasons women choose to have FGCS from the perspective of the women themselves as well as the surgeons' websites. I then examine findings on the "ideal" or best candidate for genital cosmetic procedures, compared to the "passive" cosmetic surgery patient. I end with an examination of findings regarding the potential risks involved with FGCS as presented on clinic websites, as well as risks women themselves have experienced. I also explore how success rates and stories of FGCS are marketed on these websites and how such information (risk and success) is presented on these websites.

Chapter Four: Female Genital Cosmetic Surgery: Patient And Surgeons' Perspectives

Section I: Chapter Layout

This chapter focuses heavily on the comparative features of this research and is divided into three separate, but equally important sections. In the first section I contextualize and further discuss women's reasons for undergoing FGCS, and surgeons' reasons women undergo FGCS located on their websites. The second section of this chapter examines the ways in which the female genital cosmetic surgery patient may embody the "ideal patient" when considering FGCS, as well as how she may have to, in certain circumstances, take on the position of the passive and dependent patient. The third section of this chapter examines the potential risks and complications involved with FGCS as they are presented on surgeons' websites, and compares these to the complications that women report experiencing after FGCS. This section also explores the success rates and stories presented on surgeons' websites in comparison to the risk information provided, and analyzes whether the amount of information provided on both risks and success is an adequate and reliable representation of female genital cosmetic surgery, ¹⁶ and what the possible implications such presentation of information may have.

Throughout this study, the aim has not been to portray women who choose to undergo FGCS as some type of "cultural dupe," simply having these procedures for the specific purpose of pleasing a partner, or as a vanity project. Rather, I aim to present the women in this study as those whose lives are inescapably embedded in and diversely influenced by Western "beauty" culture and practices, but who also exhibit agency.

¹⁶ This information will be compared to the peer-reviewed literature surrounding FGCS risks and successes, as well as women's own accounts of risk and success of FGCS.

Indeed, this seemed to be how women who participated in the forums wanted to be viewed. For instance, Jaclyn, a 19-year-old woman who underwent labiaplasty, states, "people need to step into the 21st century and understand what pressures women are under." Few women in this study report they have had FGCS because of a partner; rather, most of the women explain that they are not undergoing genital cosmetic surgery for anyone but themselves. As Jaclyn explains,

What people fail to understand is while perhaps there is no "real" reason for women feeling this way - unless their protruding labia genuinely does cause them a lot of pain, mine didn't really - that doesn't change one's feeling that it is unattractive and embarrassing. I am sick of the media portraying this operation as a vanity project carried out by pathetic women desperate to appear attractive to men - I would quite happily remain alone forever rather than be trapped in a relationship with some misogynistic idiot!

While the majority of the women in this study state that they were undergoing FGCS for themselves and not for others (i.e., intimate partners), the question remains, how do women articulate their reasons for undergoing, or contemplating undergoing, genital cosmetic procedures? When women have FGCS they are responding to highly restrictive notions of normality, notions that do not necessarily apply to the larger female population (in fact, it seems a very small percentage of women actually fit these notions) or leave space for (female) genital variation. As will be illustrated throughout this chapter, women who choose to undergo FGCS should not simply be viewed as passive victims of a patriarchal culture, as these women are often critically engaged in the cosmetic surgery process, and are capable of making decisions and taking responsibility for their actions; in turn, their agency should not be overlooked.

Section II: Motivations and Representations for FGCS

Over the past year, when I discussed my research project with others, their initial reaction usually was a surprised (and sometimes horrified) facial expression, followed by two questions. I would be asked about the types of surgeries offered for women's genitals, and directly after I would be asked why a woman would undergo such an invasive and (presumably) dangerous surgical procedure to modify a part of the body that for the most part was rarely ever seen? For all of the women in this study, the choice to undergo female genital cosmetic surgery was rooted in the desire to feel content and happy with their body and self and to feel as if they were "normal." While, at first glance, opting to have elective female genital surgery may appear to be an unreasonable and extreme route to achieve these desired goals, it is important to remember that within our Western patriarchal "beauty" culture, women continue to be judged based largely on their physical appearance. Quite often women who do not conform to very specific cultural "beauty" standards face certain social sanctions. Indeed, as mentioned by Pitts-Taylor, "appearance-related worries for women [may lead to] harassment, mistreatment, and discrimination" (2003, p. 51).

Women's Motivations For FGCS

As mentioned in Chapter 3, "Theoretical Framework and Literature Review," Kathy Davis (1995) discovered that having cosmetic surgery is often a positive and empowering experience for women, as this form of surgery has the ability to "alleviate their suffering and [allow women to] take their lives in [their own] hands" (p. 158). She explains that most times, women have "good" – that is, credible and justifiable – reasons for undergoing cosmetic surgery, and that surgery is a means to "alleviate unbearable"

suffering" and "reappropriate formerly hated bodies" (p. 85). Many of the women in this study who had FGCS and those who were considering it, described a long period of "suffering" and loneliness, along with feelings of dissatisfaction with their own bodies, and their genitals in particular, before they finally made the decision to have genital cosmetic surgery. Half of the women in this study (fifteen to be exact) reported general discomfort caused by what they refer to as their enlarged labia during certain physical or sexual activities, and reported feeling as if there was something "not normal" about their vulva. All of the women mentioned experiencing feelings of disgust, anger, resentment, shame and embarrassment towards their genitalia. For these women getting rid of this perceived negative body part was top priority in the hope of one day feeling comfortable and happy with their bodies. Achieving a "normal" vulva was significant for most women in this study, and the way to achieve this end goal was by undergoing FGCS. For those women who desired FGCS for other reasons than achieving a "normal" vulva, their reasoning for surgery included the desire to enhance their sex life or to stop pain caused by their labia.

Specifically, my data highlight four primary reasons women claim to undergo, or desire to undergo, female genital cosmetic surgery. The first and one of the most commonly reported reasons was for appearance and aesthetic concerns, with twenty-two out of thirty women citing this reason. Women often mentioned feeling unattractive with the desire for a more aesthetically-pleasing genital appearance. For instance, twenty-one-year-old Eden explains, "I had a lot of extra wrinkly skin and it made me feel very unattractive and... old." Often, women refer to their vagina as unattractive or unsightly. Olive, who had a labiaplasty performed, stated, "In my eyes I had this freakish ugly

vagina." She explained that she "hates the appearance of it [her vagina] because it's so gross looking." Olive came to the conclusion that her vagina was "ugly" after seeing pictures of women's vaginas in Health class, which lead her to conclude that because her vagina did not look like those shown in the photographs, it was not normal, and was in fact "gross looking." This explanation of how Olive came to understand her genitalia as "ugly" is particularly interesting. It is true that representations of women's genitals in pornography serve to idealize and standardize what women's genitals ought to resemble, however, based on Olive's description, it appears that representations in sex education and "health" texts may very well contribute to the idealization and standardization of female genitals, too. Moreover, four of the women in this study went as far as to describe their genitals as a "dirty secret" they wanted to keep hidden. As Jaclyn explains, "I felt unworthy of any boy I liked and as if I had some dirty secret," which she refers to as "the hideous monstrosity I was hiding underneath my clothes." The perception of one's genitals as "ugly" or aesthetically displeasing is so great that this belief had the power to affect women's sexual relations, too. Seventeen-year-old Paige explained in her post that she is "scared to be sexual with a boy because [she] think[s] [her] vagina is ugly [because her] labia come out really far." The data suggests that the desire is to have genitalia that "look pretty, feminine, neat and tidy," as described by Susan, a woman in her earlyforties who underwent a labiaplasty and clitoral hood reduction surgery in December, 2013. This brief description of what the desired vulva looks like bears close resemblance to the "ideal vulva" found throughout the literature on cosmetic surgery. The "ideal vulva" includes genitalia that are symmetrical, well groomed, with non-visible labia (Braun and Wilkinison, 2001, as cited in McDougall, 2013).

Within our culture, it is seemingly rare for women to be entirely satisfied with their *natural* appearance. There are a variety of "beauty practices" that are geared towards women and aimed at altering their faces and bodies, including their most intimate and "private" areas. Such practices are what Shilling (2003), refers to as "body projects." According to Shilling (2003), the body is understood as a "project" that is consciously "worked on and accomplished" as part of the construction of self-identity (p. 4). While individuals (and women in particular) engage in many forms of "body projects," such as the use of make-up and hair dye to both enhance and conceal, and razors to remove unwanted or socially or culturally "unacceptable" body hair, cosmetic surgery is perhaps the most radical, invasive, and permanent form of body project.

It is argued that cosmetic surgery, as a body project, can be a means for bringing the body into line with notions of the self (Davis, 1995). For the majority of women in this study, the decision to undergo the body project of female genital cosmetic surgery was caused by more than the typical feelings of dissatisfaction with their genital appearance. Reflected in twenty-two of the posts written by women on the online forums was the understanding that the women's genitals were no longer simply cosmetic problems, but had now also become pathological and psychological problems that required medical attention. This brings us to the second most commonly cited reason women underwent FGCS – psychological issues. The majority of women in this study identified feelings of general unhappiness with their genitals, and reported how "it's crazy [that] something so personal, that really no one would know about can have such a pull on your everyday life," as described by twenty-eight-year-old labiaplasty patient,

labiaplasty, explains "I have had 15 years of daily hate and shame over my long labia." Similarly, having low self-esteem and confidence because of their genitals was another common reason for wanting surgery mentioned by most women. However, more serious psychological reasons identified were feelings of depression and anxiety. Carrie, a twenty-year-old woman, explains in her post, "my labia has caused me psychological issues to the point of severe anxiety and depression." One woman, nineteen year-old Jaclyn, even describes thoughts of suicide due to the depression, anxiety and torment she felt about her genitalia on a daily basis:

It was at this point [when she began to long for an intimate relationship] that things became really dark. I often felt suicidal and thought that nothing would change. To people who haven't had to deal with this problem, it is impossible to understand how deeply this can affect a woman's psyche, and not only this, but every aspect of her life. It literally stalks you everywhere, constantly weighing on your mind, making you feel completely powerless. It is utterly terrifying.

It is important to note, however, that undergoing genital cosmetic surgery with the hope of positive psychological transformation is problematic, since currently there are a limited number of reports to suggest long-term (positive) psychological impacts, and the reports that do exist concentrate on "short term [outcomes] and lack methodological rigor" (Liao & Creighton, 2007, p. 1090).

Another reason for surgery expressed by many of the women in this study was physical discomfort or pain caused by their genitals. Fourteen of the women identified the labia minora or the labia majora as a constant source of pain and discomfort. Gail, who is eighteen years of age, explains that "It's [the labia] a constant discomfort and sometimes it can be fairly painful." According to eighteen-year-old Chantell, the pain she experiences is caused by labia "throbbing, [being] sore, [and] being pinched." The women in this study who experience pain because of their "enlarged labia" explained that

it was nearly impossible to take part in physical activities. "Certain activities such as biking are so painful that I have given them up. Having a normal sex life or relationship is not even possible when the act is impossible due to discomfort and pain [caused by the labia]," as explained by twenty-two-year-old Fay. Hannah, who underwent labiaplasty at age seventeen, goes as far as to suggest that the pain she experiences when engaging in exercise makes her feel like she has a "penis":

I like to exercise and whenever I am running or even moving around I always feel like I have a penis, I mean, I have to constantly tuck it [her labia] in and fix myself, which no other girl around me seems to need to do. It is really uncomfortable.

The fact that Hannah explains that she feels as if she has a "penis" is noteworthy, because having a penis does not seem to pose a barrier to men in sports. In fact, Liao and Creighton (2007) note that men do not request surgery to reduce the size of their genitals for comfort while cycling or walking. By describing her genitals in terms of male genitalia, Hannah is inferring that longer labia are not just physically painful (and of course aesthetically displeasing), but also masculine in nature and therefore inappropriate for a woman. Further, certain types of clothing contributed to the discomfort and pain women feel. Again, Fay explains that "everyday normal activities for men and especially women have been torture on my body, I can't wear certain types of clothes because my labia become sore." Likewise, Xena explains that her labia were "incredibly extended and in the way," and her "labia would hurt after exercise [she is a dancer] and would get caught in [her] underwear making it hard to wear certain clothing (i.e., leotard)."

The final (and least cited) reason women discussed for wanting FGCS was the desire for increased sensation when engaging in sexual activity as well as to feel "tighter" around their genitals. Three women in particular were adamant that their vaginas were

not "tight" and claimed that the only way to make one's vagina tight again is through cosmetic genital procedures. One woman reported that no amount of exercise or other methods would help to tighten a woman's vulva. Brittany, who underwent vaginal tightening, states, "There is no way that kegal [sic] exercises would tighten it [her vagina] up that much." While it is difficult to understand exactly how Brittany measured the level of "tightness" or looseness of her vagina, she does report that after surgery, "I asked the Dr. if he thought it [her vagina] was quite loose, he just told me it was 3 fingers wide and I think he has big fingers at that. I was made down to 1 finger size." Additionally, three women who reported wanting a "tighter" vagina also mentioned wanting to undergo surgery in hopes it would increase, or at least help, with their sex life. For example, Brittany expressed her interest in making sexual intercourse more enjoyable for herself and her husband claiming, "before surgery sex was only a handful of times a year, [but] the interest [in genital cosmetic surgery] went both ways for us [herself and her husband] since I did not get much out of it [sex] either."

Surgeons Representations of Reasons For FGCS

Found in the feminist and social scientific literature on female genital cosmetic surgery are several possible reasons explaining why women might be willing to undergo genital cosmetic surgery. However, little research (see Braun, 2009) has been conducted on the information presented on medical provider websites (i.e., clinic websites) Little is known, therefore, about the reasons clinics claim women choose to undergo FGCS, how these reasons are presented on websites, and the possible implications such marketing practices may have.

The majority of reasons surgeons' represent for why women undergo FGCS focused primarily on the issues of appearance and aesthetic concern. Twenty-seven of the thirty clinic websites claimed that women undergo FGCS, and specifically "labial beautification surgery," when they are looking to feel "more normal and attractive" in their genital region by removing large or protruding labia and other "disorders." The disorders include labia that are "asymmetric," "hypertrophic," or "elongated." These large and protruding labia are also apparently commonly referred to as "elephant ears," as explained by FGCS surgeon, Dr. Goodman (Goodman. 2015, "Labiaplasty," para. 1). Dr. Goodman was the only surgeon to describe women's labia in this way. By referring to women's labia as "elephant ears," that is, as resembling something other than the female anatomy, Dr. Goodman delineates large or long labia as "abnormal" and in need of help.

Further, according to Dr. Jason from the "Laser Vaginal Institute of New York," women want their labia to be symmetrical because, after all, "symmetry is beauty" (Jason, R., 2015, "Laser reduction labiaplasty New York," video). The majority of surgeons' websites analyzed in this research claimed women have FGCS because they are attempting to recapture a "youthful" genital appearance, because with age the "original-well-defined appearance" of the vagina "fades" (Jacobson, E., 2014, "Labia majora reduction surgery," para. 3). This is one example whereby age is treated as a disease. The western feminine ideal has constantly emphasized youth as beauty, and getting old(er) as unattractive (Lijtmaer, 2010). The focus on youth and the connection to beauty is further illustrated on Dr. Jacobson's website where he positions the "aging vagina," which involves sagging and drooping labia that are considered "aesthetically unpleasing [...] as yet another reminder of getting older" ("Labia majoria reduction

surgery," para. 3). The notion that to be considered beautiful and thus desirable a woman must appear youthful is largely supported within patriarchal societies, as Anton Lesit (2003) explains: "we often think that a younger body, ideally that of a healthy 20-year old, is more beautiful than an older one" (p.210). This idea is further illustrated by Dr. Jason when he reports that women are interested in having genital cosmetic surgery because they "long for the days when their bodies [and genitals] were young and attractive" (Jason, R., 2015, "Wonder woman / mommy makeover," para. 1), and they want to "look prettier like the women they see in magazines and films" (Blatt, R., 2015, "Labiaplasty procedure – neatness counts," para. 2). The suggestion is that FGCS has an unlimited capacity to provide youthfulness and, by definition, beauty and attractiveness. Implicit in these messages is the assumption that being (or looking) older cannot be attractive. However, once youth is retrieved, so too is beauty. These websites are promoting the idea that in order to *feel* good a woman must *look* good.

Nineteen of the clinic websites clearly implied that women's reasons for opting to have genital cosmetic surgery are to stop feelings of embarrassment (specifically with a sexual partner) caused by women's genitals, which lead to low confidence and self-esteem. As described on these websites, this lack of self-confidence is supposedly caused by women's "large," "irregular," and "sagging" labia, thereby leaving women feeling "undesirable" (Levin, R., 2015, "Vaginal tightening," para. 1). Here, surgeons' websites construct FGCS as a way to transform women's emotional health by altering the physical appearance of their genitals (Braun, 2005), situated as a way to help women's psyches, with the assumption that a pleasing genital appearance has a direct effect on emotional health. This marketing strategy can be further understood using the "body-as-self"

paradigm explained by Gulbas (2013) in her article, "Surgical Transformations in the Pursuit of Gender." This paradigm encourages individuals, and women in particular, to develop an understanding of one's self based on one's physical appearance. The "body-as-self" paradigm argues that cosmetic surgery transforms more than a woman's physical appearance; it transforms her identity and sense of self (Davis, 2003). Such a paradigm further enables surgeons to justify FGCS procedures by laying claim to its psychological benefits.

Sixteen of the clinic websites – just over half reported that women choose to undergo FGCS due to the loss of sexual sensation. Specifically, the surgeons' websites claimed that because of aging (hormonal changes), childbirth and pregnancy, the vagina is "no longer at its optimum physiological state" because its muscles have weakened (Jason, R., 2015, "Laser vaginal rejuvenation," para. 2). This is said to make women's and their partner's sexual experience less enjoyable. As stated on the "Toronto Cosmetic Clinic" website, "looser vaginal muscles in the genital area result in sexual intercourse that is often dissatisfying, as the pleasure arising from friction is noticeably reduced" ("About vaginoplasty surgery," 2014, para. 2). Therefore, as reported on these websites, women are believed to undergo FGCS with the hope of "rejuvenating" their vagina in order to, as Dr. Matlock explains, "achieve the best sexual experience possible" (Matlock, D., n.d. "Laser vaginal rejuvenation with designer laser vaginoplasty," para. 3). Further, Dr. Stanton, from the "Modern Institute of Plastic Surgery," explains:

Women, much different than men, are very concerned about beauty and how they look. If they don't feel beautiful they don't have high self-esteem, desire or enjoy their sexual experience. If they feel beautiful they are much more sexual and much more enjoying of the sexual experience, hence the advent of labiaplasty (Stanton, R., 2008, "What makes a good candidate," video).

Besides the unfortunate fact that this quote contributes to a gender dichotomy and sexist culture, it is also noteworthy because of the way Dr. Stanton discusses women's sexuality. That is, he discusses the idea that women's desire to be beautiful is an obvious and natural thing. By explaining that women must feel beautiful in order to enjoy their sexuality (and apparently most aspects of their lives), this excerpt works to reinforce the idea that being physically attractive and beautiful should be top priority in women's lives. That is, if a woman *looks* good, then she *feels* good (Featherstone, 1991).

Fourteen surgeons' websites also claimed that women undergo FGCS because "long" and "unequal" labia cause discomfort during certain physical activities, or when wearing certain types of clothing (i.e., a bathing suit or workout pants). Further reasons women are motivated to have FGCS according to the websites include childbirth, aging (hormonal changes), hygienic reasons, medical reasons (for those women who "suffer" from "labial hypertrophy") and finally for certain sociocultural, religious, or personal reasons. These cultural, religious, or personal reasons may include having or wanting to have the hymen intact upon marriage, or having the desire to give a spouse a "special wedding gift" (i.e., appearing to be a virgin), as reported by Dr. Colin Hong of the "Ultimate Beauty Innovation" clinic (Hong, C., 2014, "Toronto hymen reconstruction," para. 1). These rationales are mentioned only on the surgeons' websites, the women themselves did not mention such reasons for surgery in their posts.

The clinic websites in this study promote appearance-related concerns as the main reason women undergo female genital cosmetic surgery. Likewise, unsubstantiated claims of psychological benefits as a result of modifying the genital appearance are also prominently featured on the clinic websites as reasons for undergoing FGCS. As stated

on the "Toronto Cosmetic Clinic" website, "Undergoing labiaplasty or labial reduction [...] may improve a woman's self esteem and general happiness by reducing the size of the labia so that no protrusion of the labia minora exists" ("Why labiaplasty," 2014, para. 2). The way FGCS is marketed on the clinic websites, specifically the reasons presented for women to have FGCS – the discourse, words and sentiments used, and the statements surgeons' websites employ – appear to reinforce or validate any feelings women might have about themselves and their genitals, and may even (further) encourage women to view themselves as having their self-worth measured or judged on the appearance of their bodies, and in particular, on the appearance of their genitals.

Section III: The "Ideal Patient" verses The "Passive Patient"

The medical risks associated with female genital cosmetic surgery work to further delineate FGCS from other (less invasive) "beauty practices." A common technique used by feminist scholars when discussing the practice of cosmetic surgery is to put forth the significant risks associated with cosmetic surgery procedures in order to reinforce the notion of cosmetic surgery as not only an extremely dangerous and invasive practice, but an oppressive practice as well (see, for example, Jeffreys, 2005; Morgan, 1991). While feminist research provides a compelling analysis of both the normalizing and harmful effects of cosmetic surgery, it also tends to construct the women who choose to have elective surgery as largely passive victims who are unknowingly risking their lives in order to embody Western idealized "beauty" norms. In this study it became clear that to consider women simply as cultural dupes or as victims to beauty practices is inaccurate and oversimplifies the complexity of factors and decisions represented in women's experiences with female genital cosmetic surgery. In many of the women's narratives, it

was clear that the decision to have genital surgery was not an easy one. Almost all of the women in this study outlined the processes they went through before having surgery, or the processes they were undertaking before deciding on surgery. The women explained that deciding to have surgery is often difficult. Chantell reports that she went "through stages of being too scared, a little unsure" and finally being "prepared and certain to have surgery." Many women explained that before deciding to have surgery they conducted research on the available procedures offered, the price of the procedures, the surgeons offering the procedures, and the recovery period after surgery. Women also explained that reading other women's stories about FGCS helped them in their decision-making process:

When I was researching Labiaplasty surgery I found that these types of blogs completely helped put me at ease with the whole procedure & was really what gave me the guts to move forward. It was reassuring being able to read other women's stories that were similar to mine and the detailed process of their experience (Hannah, labiaplasty patient).

This quote is particularly interesting as it suggests that not only are women getting their rationales from and making decisions based on surgeons' representations, but women may also be getting their reasons for surgery based on other women's representations of reasons to have FGCS. Further, women also discuss the process of how to tell their family, friends, or partner about the surgery, and explain the constant process of reanalyzing their reasons for wanting surgery, so as to ensure they are having surgery for their own happiness only. Indeed, several women in this study explained they were not undergoing surgery for someone else (such as a partner), but rather for themselves. Alex, who underwent genital surgery for self-esteem reasons, explained that she wanted to have surgery "for herself" and not for her boyfriend. She states,

[My boyfriend] would never tell me before that he didn't think my vagina was tight enough. He loved me either way and loved having sex with me. The reasons behind wanting to have a surgery like this are linked to self-esteem (for me it was anyway). I wanted to do this for myself. So I think it's really important to be with someone who helps that [self-esteem]. I'm very lucky to have someone so supportive and understanding.

Likewise, twenty-two-year-old labiaplasty patient, Uta, explains that women should have FGCS only if they are getting surgery for themselves and are not pressured by outside sources:

Only do this surgery if it is something that *you* want. Do not do this for a boyfriend or for someone who has ever made a comment about your vagina. No man that I was with ever said anything about it to me. However it made me uncomfortable for too long so I decided to do something about it. I did this surgery for me.

To be an informed patient requires that the patient give informed consent. The process of informed consent is at the forefront of modern surgical practice today (O'Brien, Thorburn, Sibbel-Linz & McGregor, 2006). In their study, O'Brien et al (2006) state that while there is agreement that patients of cosmetic and reconstructive surgery ought to be given information to better inform their decision-making process, the amount of information about undergoing surgery that they should be given is unclear. While it is suggested that different patients will require different information, the researchers state that the most critical kinds of information patients should receive are "those that would cause the patient to change their decision about surgery" or would otherwise influence their decision to have surgery (O'Brien, et al. 2006, p. 897). In this particular case, this type of information would include potential risks and complications associated with genital cosmetic surgery, but as will be illustrated in "Section IV: Risk versus Success," the information on clinic websites does not necessarily paint an accurate picture of such important information (i.e., risks and complications). While it is true that clinic websites

are not women's only source of information regarding FGCS, the websites still remain a significant contributor to the discourse surrounding FGCS and a source of information many women in this study turned to for information regarding these procedures. For example, Brittany, who underwent vaginal tightening surgery, explained that when considering which surgeon she wanted to perform her surgery she,

Researched and researched and found the Dr. [she] was going to go with and out of the few bad reviews on his website they were mostly about him being rude. 2 said they were from skill, but they did not say what the problem was and if anything they did contributed to the problem. So off to Toronto I went.

Similarly, Chantell, who has been contemplating labiaplasty for over two years, states, "I've been reading up about [labiaplasty] a lot on the web and trying to find a doctor who has a lot of experience with these types of surgeries." The fact that ten out of the thirty women in this study said they have turned to clinic websites for information regarding FGCS procedures is particularly important to note. As we will see later in this chapter, surgeons' websites may not necessarily be the best place to turn to for information on FGCS, as many times they downplay the risks associated with FGCS (please see Section IV). Judging by the online forums, women do not talk about or focus on the risks associated with FGCS (including the women who turn to surgeons' websites for information). This does not mean that women are not aware of the risks associated with FGCS, however. The majority of women would state something similar to what nineteenyear-old labiaplasty patient, Jaclyn states, which is that she "know[s] there are risks involved," but would not go into detail about the specific risks they are aware of, or the seriousness of such risks. Further, the women who mentioned having researched clinic websites tended to discuss the surgeons' reviews located on their websites, and the positive outcomes highlighted on the websites, with little to no mention of the risks the

websites mentioned. In total, a third of the women in this study turned to and relied on surgeons' websites for information regarding genital surgery. Given that these websites tend to provide inadequate, minimal, and in some cases, no information on the possible risks associated with FGCS,¹⁷ it is likely that some women have only minimal knowledge of the risks associated with these procedures.

The "Ideal" Cosmetic Patient

Another important theme that emerged on surgeons' websites was attention to who the "ideal" candidate is for genital cosmetic surgery. The idea of the "ideal patient" or consumer is entrenched in cultural values, such as individual autonomy, agency, freedom of choice, and the understanding that health is an individual responsibility (Lupton, 1997). Cosmetic surgery discourse "emphasizes the ability of the individual to become informed about the risks and benefits of surgery, and to weigh them up independently and dispassionately" (Fraser, 2003, p. 36). As stated by Sanchez Taylor (2012), research regarding women's use of cosmetic surgery shows that women who are interested in having some type of cosmetic surgical procedure (whether it be breast surgery or labia surgery) tend to research it thoroughly, along with the possible outcomes of the surgery (see, for example, Davis, 1995; Gimlin, 2010). Several of the women in this study embodied this role of the "ideal patient" through actively researching the procedures, as well as attempting to locate the "best" surgeon to perform their desired surgery. For example, twenty-one-year-old Eden explains that before deciding to have labiaplasty, she thought it was important that she conducted "research on her own" to find a surgeon whose "after" surgery photographs (of women's genitals) she liked. Eden

67

¹⁷ Please refer to "Section IV: Risk versus Success" for a deeper discussion on the risk information presented on clinic websites.

states that she found one surgeon and "liked his before and after [photographs], read his reviews and decided to make an appointment to have a consultation." In the same fashion, Kayla, a twenty year-old who had recently undergone labiaplasty, reported that before setting up a consultation with a surgeon, she asked her general practitioner to recommend potential surgeons to perform her surgery so that she could, as she explains, "do my research on them." Further, four women in this study expressed the importance of having realistic expectations after surgery. Willow, who decided to have a labiaplasty performed in order to alter the appearance of her genitalia, states that women interested in FGCS should not "have too high expectations, [because] it's [one's vagina] probably not going to look like a porn star vagina, [but] you have to work the best with what you have and be happy with the improvement."

Surgeons' narratives of the "ideal patient" or the "best candidate" (as they are commonly referred to on the clinic websites) for FGCS share similar notions to that of the ideal patient or consumer mentioned in the preceding paragraph. For instance, the "Laser Vaginal Institute of New York City," explains that they "encourage patients to participate in their healthcare and surgical design" and describes the ideal FGCS patient as a woman who is "empowered by knowledge and choice" (Jovanovic, K., 2015, "Laser vaginal rejuvenation," para. 3).

Further descriptions of the ideal candidate for FGCS were women who are "in good health" both physically and mentally. Dr. Matlock explains, the "best candidate for [female genital cosmetic] surgery is a physically healthy woman" (Matlock, D., n.d. "Liposculpting of the fatty mons pubis and labia majora," para. 2), while Dr. Hong identifies the ideal candidate as a woman who is "emotionally stable" (Hong, C., 2014,

"Vaginoplasty Toronto," para. 3). As described on several clinic websites, the ideal patient for FGCS also includes a woman who is experiencing pain caused by her genitalia, a woman who wants to reclaim or enhance her sex life, and a woman who is looking to enhance her confidence and aesthetics of her genitals.

As it is shown in the previous paragraphs, ideal patients are described on clinic websites as being involved in their surgery, and are described in positive and encouraging terms, for instance, as "empowered with knowledge and choice" (Jovanovic, K., 2015, "Laser vaginal rejuvenation," para. 3). Consistent with the idea that success and empowerment can be achievable through consumption, which is prevalent in neoliberal societies (Leve, Rubin, & Pusic, 2012), the choice to have FGCS is positioned as an empowered, individual decision. The rhetoric used to describe the ideal patient for FGCS reinforces a sense of rational decision-making and empowerment, which could potentially serve to make the argument in favour of FGCS appear reasonable. The description of the ideal patient positions FGCS as an individual choice for a rational (i.e., "emotionally stable") and well-informed woman, and an act of empowerment. Further, by describing the "ideal patient" using broad guidelines, such as a woman who wants to enhance her genital appearance, sex life, confidence, and to stop feelings of discomfort, the websites describe a large number of women who may be unhappy with a specific aspect of their genitalia as "ideal patients" or candidates for FGCS, which could potentially encourage women who are already contemplating genital surgery to go through with the surgery since they fit the criteria of the ideal candidate.

The Passive Cosmetic Patient

The descriptions of the ideal and active cosmetic patient are in direct opposition to those of the passive and docile patient, that is, a patient who is compliant and dependent on an expert "authoritative Other" (i.e., the surgeon), and who contradicts the contemporary ideas in the industrialized West surrounding the "importance of the autonomous self, the self who governs personal behavior via reason rather than emotion" (Lupton, 1997, p. 374). Though the passive patient is often viewed in an unfavourable light, I argue that many of the women in this study had little choice but to conform to this type of patient under certain circumstances. That is, since the women who had FGCS were facing significant and risky consumer health decisions, it would have been difficult for them to remain entirely independent or autonomous. This is apparent after reading some of the women's narratives, which illustrate the context in which the women were making their decisions, and suggests that during their decision-making processes they were indeed passive and compliant with the surgeon. For instance, while many of the women's narratives clearly expressed the importance of conducting one's own research on FGCS (as discussed in the previous paragraphs), not all of the women took this particular approach. For example, in Olive's narrative it is apparent that she chose to adopt the passive patient position when it came to gathering information on FGCS procedures, by relying solely on the expert knowledge of medical professionals. Olive, who was interested in labiaplasty, explained that she was unsure if the size of her labia were "normal," which prompted her to set up an appointment with a surgeon because she "trusted that his opinion would be the best." The surgeon confirmed that her labia were larger than average and that she qualified for surgery. According to Olive's post, it is

clear she did not feel it necessary to seek additional information than that which was given to her by the surgeon, because she trusted him as the authoritative source for medical knowledge.

Finally, it becomes even more difficult for women who want to undergo FGCS not to embody the dependent and passive patient during certain instances throughout this process, due to the imbalance in the medical knowledge between the woman having the surgery and the surgeon performing the surgery. That is, women at times had little choice but to depend upon the surgeon to some extent, because the women knew far less about the surgery than the surgeons did, and therefore had little choice but to rely on them.

Section IV: Risk verses Success

A third theme that emerged on surgeons' websites is how these websites outline the risks and success associated with FGCS. Within a medical context, the patient must be informed of potential risks before providing informed consent to surgery (particularly elective surgery) (O'Brien et al., 2006). Therefore, though the surgeons' websites state that these women are informed, or at least, should be informed, about all aspects of FGCS, usually the potential risks and complications of FGCS – information crucial to informed consent — were downplayed or missing altogether from the websites. This is problematic because it highlights the positive aspects of FGCS rather than the potential risks of this surgery.

"Rare" Risks

In a report produced on the ethical considerations in relation to female genital cosmetic surgery, The Royal College of Obstetricians & Gynaecologists (2013) outline three main guidelines on cosmetic surgery marketing that advertisers are encouraged to

follow: 1) "You must be honest and trustworthy in all your communication with patients and colleagues. This means you must make clear the limits of your knowledge and make reasonable checks to make sure any information you give is accurate"; 2) "When advertising your services, you must make sure that the information you publish is factual and can be checked, and does not exploit patients' vulnerability or lack of medical knowledge"; and 3) "Marketers should not imply unrealistic claims" (p. 5). However, according to the RCOG, this guidance "is systematically ignored at present" (2013, p. 5). Researchers state that women considering FGCS should be informed of all possible risks associated with the procedures. These risks include "bleeding, infection, scarring, dyspareunia, alteration in sensation, pain, wound dehiscence (which may lead to the need for revision operations), decrease in sexual pleasure, and possible dissatisfaction with cosmetic or other results" (The Society of Obstetricians & Gynaecologists of Canada, 2013), and researchers report that there are currently no available long-term data on the safety or efficacy of these procedures (Royal College of Obstetricians & Gynaecologists, 2013).

Out of the thirty clinic websites analyzed in this study, fifteen of the websites simply left out the risks associated with female genital cosmetic surgery altogether. Dr. Lee's clinic website, for instance, reads, "the recovery is quick and easy" ("Common vaginal procedures," n.d. para. 2). Out of the fifteen websites that did not name potential risks or complications, two made an offer regarding a risk discussion with the surgeon prior to surgery. The other half of surgeons' websites in this study outline at least a few of the risks associated with FGCS, however, they present such risks as very unlikely or "rare." Dr. DuPéré's website, "Visage Cosmetic Plastic Surgery," reads, "every

procedure comes with *some* inherent risks [,] although very rare" (DuPéré, M., 2015, "Potential risks and complications," para. 2). It was often mentioned on the clinic websites that the majority of FGCS patients are free of complications and exceptionally satisfied with their surgery. For instance, Toronto's "The Plastic Surgery Clinic" website reports:

Even though there may be risks or complications, most women do not experience these. [E]very operation has risks and potential complications. Fortunately the vast majority of patients who undergo [female genital cosmetic surgery] have no problems with their surgery and are extremely happy with their results ("Labia reduction risks & complications," n.d., para. 1).

When surgeons' websites did outline possible risks and complications associated with female genital cosmetic surgery, most of the websites would describe each risk or complication as "very rare" throughout the risk section, as though the clinic websites were trying to downplay such risks. For instance, on the "Visage Cosmetic Plastic Surgery" website, Dr. DuPéré states after almost every risk that such a risk remains "rare":

Risks can include opening of the wounds and infections (extremely rare), fatty cysts after fat grafting to the labia minora (which will often reabsorb), excessive reabsorption of the fat grafts (possibly requiring a second fat grafting procedure), scar retraction (rare), painful scars and loss of tissue due to vascular comprise (extremely rare), hematomas (rare) and increased or decreased sensitivity – always a possibility when manipulating tissue with such specialized nerve endings (DuPéré, M., 2015, "Potential risk and complications," para. 2).

Further techniques used on surgeons' websites in this study included distancing the actual FGCS procedure from other, more "serious," and complex surgeries. For example, most of the clinic websites state that FGCS procedures "typically take about one hour" to perform under local anesthesia (Benchetrit, A., 2014, "Day of surgery: What to expect," para. 1), or under a "light sedation or twilight sleep anesthesia" (Toronto Cosmetic

Clinic, 2014, How is labia reduction performed," para. 1). This implies that genital cosmetic surgery is less risky than other types of cosmetic surgery because it is (often) performed with minimal sedation and takes little time to perform (Stanton, R., 2008, "Labiaplasty," para. 1). Another technique used on Dr. Jovanovic's website, "Laser Vaginal Institute of New York," is positioning FGCS as carrying less of a risk than childbirth: "To put risk in perspective, pregnancy is associated with far more risk than any of these procedures" ("What are the surgical risks with laser vaginal surgery," para. 1).

FGCS Success

While risks and complications are minimized, however, these websites are full of information regarding the success of female genital cosmetic surgery. Such information takes several forms: former patient testimonials praising the surgeon, clinic and the surgery; the surgeons' own claims of the success of genital cosmetic procedures; or studies that are referenced on the websites giving evidence to FGCS success rates. Interestingly, though the majority of the clinic websites analyzed in this study provided anecdotal evidence and did not provide high quality evidence (i.e., scholarly research) of success rates for FGCS, this did not stop these same websites from *claiming* that these procedures have a high success rate.

For the websites that did not provide reliable evidence of success rates for genital cosmetic surgery, most echoed Dr. Stanton's clinic's claim that "patients have a high satisfaction rate and an improved self-esteem" after surgery (Stanton, R., n.d, "Labiaplasty," para. 1) without providing evidence to support such claims. Other success rates mentioned on one of the surgeons' websites came from an article from the *Journal*

of Sexual Medicine (2010), which reports "a 90-95% satisfaction rate in women who had undergone" female genital cosmetic surgery, as cited on the "Toronto Cosmetic Clinic" website ("About labiaplasty surgery," 2014, para. 2). Citing the growing number of women having FGCS was another technique used on the websites as evidence of the success of these surgeries. As Dr. DuPéré states, "over the past decade, women have become more aware of – and open to – the correction of vaginal irregularities. In the U.S. alone, plastic surgeons performed more than 5,000 labial procedures in 2012" (DuPéré, M., 2015, "Labiaplasty," para. 1). However, he fails to reference a source for this statement. This kind of strategy works to further normalize FGCS procedures by emphasizing the growing number of women who are willing and "open to" having surgery on their genitals.

The success of FGCS was also presented on several clinic websites through the use of patient testimonies. These stories were often located on the websites under a link titled "Patient Testimonies" or "Patient Stories," which brings the online user to a separate webpage where previous (and in some cases current) patients describe their gratitude and happiness after their surgery. For example, one woman who had vaginal rejuvenation surgery by Dr. Allan of the "Allan Centre" clinic reported,

Laser Vaginal Rejuvenation[™] has improved my sex life and self esteem. I'm happier and more self-confident. Because of this, my boyfriend is a lot happier as well. I feel tighter, so I feel more pleasure when I'm having sex. I'm able to do all the sports I want without feeling any pain. When I used to have sex, my labia would swell from all the rubbing ("Patient stories," n.d., para. 4).

By providing a first-hand account of a woman's (positive) experience with FGCS, this marketing technique emphasizes the potential benefits FGCS procedures can provide women, including psychological, physical, and sexual benefits, and works to make these

potential benefits all the more realistic by showing a woman who was once unhappy with her genitals (which many women can identify with) now completely content with her body after having surgery. Additionally, if the clinic websites did not provide evidence of success rates for FGCS or patient stories, surgeons themselves presented case studies of women who successfully underwent FGCS. For instance, on Dr. Wilkie's clinic website, "New Woman Canada. Restore. Renew. Rejuvenate," he explains:

My patient in this case study had two children delivered vaginally. She was recently remarried and, although the couple had an intimate relationship, the pleasure factor was lessened due to the size of her husband's penis and her vaginal stretching from her vaginal deliveries. After her surgery, the intimacy of their sexual relationship has been greatly enhanced, making them physically more compatible. With procedures like vaginal rejuvenation, women are now able to control their own desires and sexual gratification, including the gratification of their partners ("Case study: Vaginal rejuvenation," 2015, para. 2).

Explaining that FGCS gives women the power or ability to "control their own desires and sexual gratification" is an effective marketing technique used to demonstrate that FGCS gives women a sense of empowerment, providing women the ability and solution (i.e., FGCS) to change an aspect of their lives they may be dissatisfied with.

What Do The Women Say?

As previously mentioned, surgeons' websites often state that the risks involved in genital cosmetic surgeries are "very rare" or "extremely rare," but what do the women say about such "rare" risks? Interestingly, a risk that was not mentioned on the surgeons' websites but expressed in the literature on FGCS risks, as well as by several women on the online forums was the risk of not being satisfied with one's genitalia after surgery, a possible outcome I consider to be fairly significant. Out of thirty women in this study twenty-one actually underwent FGCS, while nine women were waiting to have surgery or

were debating whether or not to undergo the surgery. Out of the twenty-one women who had surgery, four reported not being satisfied with their genitals after undergoing FGCS. For instance, Alex described her dissatisfaction with her genitalia after having undergone a vaginoplasty (vaginal rejuvenation or vaginal tightening surgery):

I have really gone up and down with my feelings on everything – some days I'm really happy, and other days I feel like it [the vaginoplasty] didn't work out the way I wanted it to. I am too critical I think, but I realize now that I must have had kind of a subconscious "ideal image" in my mind (I didn't even know it was there, I thought I just wanted to be "normal") but the post-surgical reality has turned out to be quite different. But that of course leaves me open to my own endless critique (will I ever be satisfied?!).

This excerpt is particularly interesting, as it highlights the way in which the production of ideals, and their association with ideas of "normalcy," are progressively encroaching on (women's) bodily integrity. A specific genital ideal has developed and is described by McDougall (2013) as "a clean slit [...] where the labia are symmetrical and do not protrude" (p.776). As ideals become normalized, they impact the choices individuals make. A desire to be "normal," as defined by cultural expectations rather than natural physical characteristics, influences the decisions women make about their genitalia, and cosmetic surgeons increasingly help women in attaining an ideal body (Braun and Kitzinger 2001).

Another form of dissatisfaction experienced with surgically modified genitals was when a woman underwent labiaplasty and the reconstruction of her labia turned out to be much more extreme than she had requested. For instance, Susan opted for the "hybrid" labiaplasty, which is described as the most common and "natural looking" type of labiaplasty, but instead she feels like she has been given the "Barbie" labiaplasty, the

most extreme form which includes almost complete removal of the labia, to the point where the labia are "basically nonexistent."

In one circumstance, there was need for a second surgery after having FGCS in order to correct complications that arose from the first surgery. Specifically, Willow, who had undergone labiaplasty to "fix" the appearance of her genitalia as well as to increase her confidence and self-esteem, reported having a "large hard bump under [her] clitoris" which was not there prior to the surgery and which "didn't connect to the rest of the labia." She was forced to undergo another genital cosmetic procedure to try and get rid of the hard bump. An additional complication that a large number of the women described experiencing after surgery was an infection in the surgical area, as well as a large amount of pain after surgery (more than the amount of pain which they were told they would experience). As nineteen-year-old Taylor explains, on the seventh day after her labiaplasty, she experienced "a lot more bleeding than there [had] been previously and a *lot* more pain." She mentions that she had "no idea where [she was] bleeding from or why and the pain was unbearable."

Additional complications that were not mentioned on the surgeons' websites, but which some of the women experienced, included not being able to lubricate as well after surgery. Alex states, "I don't lubricate very well anymore, we [her partner and her] always have to use lubricant." Internal and external bleeding from stitches that have fallen out, as well as irregular bleeding weeks after surgery, were also common complications many of the women reported experiencing.

Lopsidedness of Information

When examining the balance of information provided on the surgeons' websites, it is apparent that the representation of aesthetic female genital surgery is asymmetrical. The patient testimonies located on the clinic websites tend to be positive only, applauding the benefits of genital surgery to the woman, and the skills and services of the genital surgery experts. On the other hand, the same clinic websites often downplayed or minimized the risks, complications, and potential harm that aesthetic genital surgery may cause women. In actuality, it is not yet clear whether the benefits of FGCS actually outweigh the risks. However, women who are interested in FGCS should be well informed of both possible benefits and possible risks or complications that go along with FGCS. It is the clinic websites' responsibility, as important contributors to the medical discourse surrounding FGCS, to highlight not only the successful aspects of FGCS, but also the potential complications genital cosmetic surgeries may cause. Further, only four of the thirty surgeons offered a cautionary section on their websites, while the other twenty-seven websites do not offer any cautionary advice. The cautionary sections emphasized the importance of careful consideration before undergoing surgery, as well as careful consideration choosing a (skilled) surgeon, and advised against surgery if a woman is trying to become, or currently is pregnant (Please see Jacobson, E., 2014, "Labiaplasty frequently asked questions," para. 1; Toronto Cosmetic Clinic, 2014, "At what age can I get labiaplasty," para. 1; Lista, F, & Ahmad, J.,n.d, "The best candidates for vaginal tightening," para. 1).

It is possible, and perhaps likely, that though a large number of the clinic websites do not provide adequate information on risks and complications, surgeons may go through these risks and complications with the patient during consultations. However, advertising on surgeons' websites to the online public encourages a consumer focus on the benefits of these procedures over the risks, which fosters a limited understanding of the implications of female genital cosmetic surgery.

Section V: Conclusion

This chapter has explored the reasons women undergo, or contemplate undergoing, female genital cosmetic surgery as explained by women themselves as well as the reasons women undergo FGCS as stated on surgeons' websites. It is clear that the motives women describe for undergoing FGCS mirror the motives presented on the surgeons' websites. Both clinic websites and women's posts present appearance and physical issues as the two most common rationales for surgery, followed by physical discomfort and sexual issues. Surgeons' websites also cite additional reasons for FGCS, which were not mentioned by the women, including medical issues, sociocultural or religious reasons, aging and childbirth, and lastly, hygienic reasons. 18 What could this similar discourse mean? Perhaps this points to the idea that women, who are most likely to obtain health information online, are gathering acceptable reasons for undergoing FGCS from surgeons' websites, and/or during consultations with surgeons. Alternately, perhaps surgeons are gathering women's rationales from the women themselves (through their interactions with women who are interested in FGCS) in order to market these surgeries on their websites to the target population. Therefore, it is possible that women's reasons for FGCS and surgeon's representations of reasons women have FGCS influence upon one another.

¹⁸ Please refer to Appendix D and E for tables representing the exact number of times each reason for FGCS was presented or reported by the women and clinic websites.

Next this chapter moved to an exploration of the "ideal" versus the passive FGCS patient and the ways in which women at times embody both positions. A paradox emerges in this section: while surgeons' websites describe the active and thus "ideal" patient as an independent woman who is empowered by knowledge and choice, at the same time women have little choice but to take up the role of the passive patient and rely on the medical expert. This is due in large part to the unequal medical knowledge between the woman and surgeon, especially because women who are interested in FGCS face serious and risky health decisions, it would be particularly hard for women to remain completely autonomous throughout this process.

Lastly, this chapter has outlined representations of potential risks and apparent successes that are associated with FGCS, how information about risks versus success is presented on surgeons' websites, and the possible implications such presentations may have. It is clear from this section that the risks outlined on the clinic websites do not match up neatly with women's experiences with FGCS. Indeed, though FGCS is largely marketed as a minimal risk procedure on the websites, the women's accounts of risks after surgery reveal a different story. Several women explained serious complications they experienced after undergoing genital cosmetic surgery which were not mentioned on any of the thirty clinic websites.

The next chapter will explore the process of medicalization and how this process contributes to women's understanding of their genitals as "normal" or "abnormal." I then discuss key findings regarding how women's genitals are talked about before undergoing female genital cosmetic surgery versus after undergoing genital cosmetic surgery, as well as how "normal" and "abnormal" female genitals are discussed by women themselves as

well as on FGCS clinic websites. The chapter will end with a discussion of the power of images, specifically "before" and "after" photographs of women's surgically modified vulvas presented on clinic websites.

Chapter Five: Medicalizing The Healthy Vulva: The "Right" And "Wrong" Vagina

Section 1: Chapter Layout

To state that the majority of women in the in North America have difficult relationships with their bodies is to voice the obvious. A large percentage of women view their bodies as inadequate in some way (Harris & Carr, 2001), or as Braun and Tiefer (2009) explain, as "failing in the quest for feminine bodily perfection" (p. 1). The Western ideal of a specific feminine, beautiful, and often-unrealistic female bodily form plays an important role in rendering female embodiment problematic for many women. Among the large diversity of female bodily forms, certain bodies are often deemed pathologically different. For example, bodies that do not fit within the white, thin, youthful and ablebodied feminine ideal tend to be marked as somehow flawed.

Relevant literature suggests that within our Western consumer society, women's bodies tend to be thought of as commodities (Negrin, 2002). These bodies are then "dissected into physical parts – eyes, lips, breasts, legs – women constantly are made aware of chronic imperfections, then [are] offered products [or solutions] that will help them attain the socially constructed ideal" (Duke & Kreshel, 1998, p. 49).

In this chapter I will draw from feminist and sociological theory, women's experiences with FGCS, and surgeons' websites, to discuss how the medicalization of otherwise healthy female genital variations contributes to women's concerns and troubles with their unreconstructed genitals. I will examine the process of medicalization by looking at four themes: first, I will examine the ways in which the women experience medicalization at the "conceptual level" and the "interactional level" (Conrad, 1992); second, I will examine the process of medicalization by looking at how women and

surgeons' websites discuss female genitals before genital cosmetic surgery in comparison to female genitals after genital cosmetic surgery; third, I examine the process of medicalization by looking at how "normal" and "abnormal" genitals are being presented and discussed by the women and surgeons' websites. This chapter ends with an examination of how the process of medicalization framed women's genitals as medical objects to be "fixed" by examining the "before" and "after" photographs of women's genitals located on surgeons' websites.

Section II: Medicalization Explained

During the 1970's the concept of "medicalization" appeared throughout scientific literature. Conrad (1992) defines medicalization as a process whereby "nonmedical problems become defined and treated as medical problems," often in terms of disorders or illnesses (p. 209). As previously explained in Chapter Three, this process happens when a (previously non-identified medical) "problem" is described using medical language and when there is a medical intervention to treat this "problem" which was not considered pathological prior to medicalization (Conrad, 1992).

According to Conrad (1992), medicalization can occur on three distinct levels: conceptual, institutional, and interactional. At the conceptual level, the use of medical language is used to define a nonmedical problem. At the institutional level, physicians have the power to be "supervisors of treatment organizations" (Conard & Kern, 1986, p. 378). At the interactional level, a physician, during interaction with the patient, defines a problem as a medical problem or issue (Conrad, 1992). As will be explored throughout this section, women's narratives as well as the surgeons' websites in this study reflect medicalization at both the conceptual and interactional levels.

Arguably, the medicalization process increases the power and control already harbored by the medical profession. This increase in power occurs when problems that were not previously deemed "medical problems" start to fall under the jurisdiction of medicine. As Zola (1981) argued over thirty years ago, "medicine is becoming a major institution of social control" through medicalizing "much of daily living, by making medicine and the labels 'healthy' and 'ill' *relevant* to an ever increasing part of human existence" (p. 379). Today this argument seems to hold true more than ever. For example, in this chapter I demonstrate how the medical profession positions female genital variation as a medical and pathological problem, thus resulting in the medicalization of otherwise seemingly healthy genitals.

"Medical Markets"

I do not want to label the women in this study, or women who are not in this study who choose to undergo FGCS or other forms of cosmetic surgery, as passive and compliant victims trapped in the process of medicalization. The women in this study were often actively involved in the medicalization of their genitals – this is known as "medicalization from below" (Furedi, 2006). This form of medicalization involves self-medicalization, wherein the individual adopts the role of patient in order to pursue certain personal interests. For example, the individual adopts the medicalization strategy in order to receive certain benefits, or to avoid having to confront certain situations. This process of medicalization may at times be seen among FGCS and other cosmetic surgery patients who are looking to have their surgery covered by insurance as a result of the psychological harm their body may cause them. As Reissman (2003) claims, women work with the medical field as a way to advance their interests and needs. She states,

"both historically and currently, there has tended to be a 'fit' between medicine's interest in expanding its jurisdiction and the need of women to have their experience acknowledged" (p. 57). This "fit" is particularly apparent in cosmetic surgery, because women seek out surgeons and their expertise, which creates a demand for (cosmetic) surgical intervention, while cosmetic surgeons advertise and promote cosmetic procedures to (potential) patients.

This system validates and increases the consumer demand for cosmetic surgeries., and contributes to the formation of "medical markets." Medical markets are described as the process whereby "medical products, services, or treatments are promoted to consumers to improve their health, appearance, or well-being" (Conrad & Leiter, 2004, p. 160). What distinguishes medical markets from other consumer markets is the "uncertainty in the definition, recognition and diagnosis of disease states" (Montagne, 1992, p. 401, as cited in Conrad & Leiter, 2004, p. 160). For example, a troubling development related to the process of medicalization is the inconstancy and "uncertainty" about what constitutes health and illness, as the line that once divided health from illness has become increasingly blurred (Furedi, 2006). Similar to Zola (1981), Conrad and Leiter (2004) claim it is likely that there will be an increase of new medical markets, as well as an increasing push to "medicalize the troubles and problems of everyday life" (p.172). Consumers (i.e., potential and current patients) are necessary for medical markets to thrive and survive.

The medicalization of healthy female appearances is therefore a complex system within a capitalist society in which women are deemed complicit actors. However, as Virginia Braun's (2010) argument discussed in Chapter Three states, the women who

undergo FGCS perpetuate the medicalization of "normal" and healthy functioning vulvas, which contribute to sociocultural ideals and norms in which this medicalization process is situated.

Conceptual and Interactional Medicalization

As we will see throughout this chapter, women who have seemingly healthy vulvas often regard theirs as wrong or "abnormal" in some way and as being in need of medical help, but why is this? I argue in this section that by looking at the process of medicalization at both the "conceptual" and "interactional" level one can better understand how women come to experience their own genitals in this way. As previously mentioned, medicalization at the conceptual level occurs when a "medical vocabulary is used to define a problem" (Conrad & Kern, 1986, p. 378). This level of medicalization is represented on almost every one of the clinic websites that are analyzed throughout this study. Specifically, the medical concepts "hypertrophic," "hypoplasia" and "atrophy," which were frequently used on the clinic websites to refer to female genitals that were described as having a "condition" or medical "issue," are prime examples of medicalization at the conceptual level. A seemingly common genital variation, the protrusion of the labia minora beyond the labia majora, has come to be understood by many women as a "problem;" the medical profession converts genital variation into a medical issue by referring to it as a problem, effecting medicalization at the conceptual level. Out of the thirty clinic websites, fifteen discuss the issue of having either hypertrophic, atrophic, or hypoplasia labia, and position longer and "sagging" labia as conditions that FGCS can "treat": "Dr. Palick treats hypertrophy with liposuction [and] more advanced hypertrophy is treated with reduction achieved by excision of [the labia]"

("Labia majora remodeling," 2015, para. 5). On Dr. Palick's website it is also noted that he "treats labia atrophy." Likewise, on the "Edelstein Cosmetic" clinic website, it reads:

"[Labia hypertrophy] is a medical condition that is characterized by the atypical enlargement of the inner vaginal lips (or labia minora). Patients who suffer from the condition present inner vaginal lips that extend beyond the typically larger outer lips (labia majora)" (Edelstein, J., "Labiaplasty," 2015, para. 3).

"Enlarged," or "sagging" labia, then, is not presented as a woman's personal problem on the surgeons' websites, but rather, it is constructed as a medical issue that can (and should) be "fixed."

The women in this study who have undergone FGCS all share a common experience with one another – the pre-operative consultation. During this interaction between the surgeon and the woman, medicalization at the interactional level occurs. During this specific interaction, the use of medical rhetoric by the surgeon appears to be common. This type of medical language used by the surgeon works to define women's genitals as medical problems, rather than mere issues of vanity, which are in need of medical attention. This is clear in the case of fifteen-year-old Olive, who explained that ever since she began puberty she felt as though her "labia just didn't look normal." She spoke to her mother about this and together they set up an appointment for her with a gynecologist who also performed FGCS procedures; she stated she "trusted that his opinion would be the best." During the appointment the doctor confirmed, "It [her labia] was larger than average and [she] qualifies for [female genital cosmetic] surgery." This example not only illustrates medicalization at the interactional level whereby the doctor in this situation is defining a social problem for Olive as a *medical* issue; it also serves to confirm feelings of abnormality and defectiveness and to uphold dominant beauty norms of female genitalia.

Through the interactional and conceptual level of medicalization, the women's feelings of "abnormality" were later confirmed through their interactions with the surgeons who treated women's normal and healthy functioning genitals as medical problems. These feelings of "abnormality" were also confirmed through the development of medical terminology to describe variation among women's genitals. When looking at the process of medicalization through this perspective, the women's decisions to have female genital cosmetic surgery come to be understood as reasonable and logical, rather than illogical or naïve.

Section III: Female Genitalia Before and After Surgery

In this section, I focus on the dramatic difference in how women's genitals are discussed before female genital cosmetic surgery and after genital cosmetic surgery and how this distinction further contributes to the medicalization of women's genitals.

Women's and clinic website's descriptions of women's unreconstructed and reconstructed genitals begin to develop the idea of "normal" and "abnormal" or "good" and "bad" female genitals. 19

Genitalia Pre-Surgery

Women's ideas and experiences of their genitals are anything but uncomplicated, simple, or objective (Braun & Tiefer, 2009). The women's descriptions of their genitals prior to genital cosmetic surgery were often used to describe why it was necessary for them to undergo FGCS procedures. Before genital surgery, all of the women described their genitals as being a constant "struggle" or "issue" they have had to (and, indeed, may still have to) deal with on a day-to-day basis. In her post, Alex explains, "for the past 15

89

¹⁹ This idea of "normal" and "abnormal" female genitals will be further discussed in Section IV: The "Normal" versus The "Abnormal."

years – since I was 13 I have been struggling on a day-to-day basis with this issue [of having long labia]." Likewise, twenty-eight-year-old Devon explains that she "has struggled with long labia" her entire life. Twenty-two of the thirty women described their genitals before having surgery as aesthetically displeasing due to their "very large" labia, and would often refer to their genitals as resembling something other than the female anatomy. For example, in seventeen-year-old Paige's description of her genitals she explains, "I think my vagina is ugly. My labia comes out really far and it reminds me of a turkey." Paige's description of her genitals further positions long(er) labia as a problem in need of fixing. Women's dissatisfaction with their genitals could be attributed to the fact that representations of women's genitals in pornography and other media outlets, for example, contain highly selective and usually one-dimensional images of women's genitals, giving a false impression of what "normal" is. For instance, Paige explains in her post that she became aware of her "long labia" after seeing other women's genitals in the media, and states, "When I see vaginas in movies they don't look like mine and I feel I'm not normal." It is not surprising that Paige would identify her long labia as wrong, since genital variation is largely non-existent in pornography (McDougall, 2013), which is presumably where Paige encountered most of the female genitals she speaks of. Paige's explanation reflects the pervasiveness of media and the effect that these normalizing images have on the way she experiences her body. Although there is little to no diversity of labia on screen, there is actually considerable variation of female genitals, with the labia minora ranging from 2 to 10 cm in length (Lloyd, Crouch, Minto, Liao & Creighton, 2005). Women seek labiaplasty and other FGCS procedures, therefore, even though their labia are technically considered to fall within the "normal" range, perhaps as

a result of the limited variation of women's genitals presented to the public, as Paige's account suggests.

Women's descriptions of their pre-surgical vulvas were similar to each other's. These frequent descriptions included referring to their genitals as "abnormal," "enlarged," "protruding," "long," "ugly," "unequal," "asymmetrical," "wrinkly," "loose," and "hypertrophic," with "dark pigmentation." For example, Uta, who is twenty-two years old, explains that before she had labiaplasty, her labia were "long, protruding and VERY [sic] uneven." Similarly, nineteen year-old Jaclyn, who underwent vaginoplasty, described her pre-surgical genitals as "abnormal and unattractive" and "a dirty secret," which she refers to as "the hideous monstrosity I was hiding underneath my clothes." What is particularly interesting about Jaclyn's post is her use of the term "dirty" to describe her non-modified genitals, specifically when thinking about the aesthetic ideal for female genitalia, which is commonly referred to as "a *clean* slit" (emphasis added) and a "minimalist ideal for women's genitals where the labia are symmetrical and do not protrude" (Weil Davis, 2002, as cited in McDougall, 2013, p. 776). The word "clean" to describe the female genital aesthetic ideal is often meant to describe "neat" and "tidy" genitals (i.e., small and contained labia). Women have long felt pressure to combat the stereotypes that their genitals are "smelly, dirty and leaky" (McDougall 2013, p.776). Now, however, women must also consider the shape and size of their genitals, which creates an ideal for women's genitals whereby the genitals ought to be as "clean" as possible regarding both scent and appearance.

The term "hypertrophic" used by one of the women in this study to refer to her genitals pre-surgery is particularly interesting, as the term "hypertrophy" is not regular,

everyday language, but is often found throughout medical discourse as a way to describe the enlargement or protuberance of an organ or part of the body (such as labial tissue extending beyond the labia majora) (Farahi, Lara-Torre & McCuin, 2014). Hypertrophy of the labia is an interesting qualification for cosmetic genital surgery in particular, since women's genitals show wide diversity in all features (Lloyd, Crouch, Minto, Liao & Creighton, 2005), and according to Braun and Tiefer (2009), visible labia minora are statistically "normal" and may possibly be more common than invisible labia. Yet labia minora are still described as hypertrophic if they are visible past the labia majora. The length a woman's labia must reach before it is deemed hypertrophic is a matter of much debate, with definitions (with no apparent evidence base) ranging from 2cm to 5cm (see Goodman et al., 2007; Pardo et al., 2006). Yet, this type of medical language appears to have now been adopted by women themselves to describe their "flawed" genitalia. Carrie, a twenty-year-old student who underwent labiaplasty surgery, explained that she suffers from "labial hypertrophy." In taking up this type of medical language, a certain (typically average) body variation is medicalized and pathology confirmed. With the acceptance of this "condition," a surgical solution is therefore justified, as this genital variation becomes a real "problem" requiring treatment.

Based on the women's descriptions of their pre-surgical genitals, it appears that "long" and "uneven" labia (and indeed a "loose" vagina) indicate, to some women, a body unfit for sexual activity. Once again Paige explains, "I'm scared to be sexual with a boy because I think my vagina is ugly." Veronica, who is in her early twenties, explains that before having surgery it was "so hard living with something you feel to be embarrassing to the point it affects your sexual relationships, confidence and self-

"unbelievably self conscious to the point that [she] only had a single sexual experience in [her] lifetime [because of her] large and unequal labia." The belief that one's genitals are unattractive deeply affects women's conception of and relation to their own genitalia and has a marginalizing effect, whereby women feel they ought to have a particular version of female genitalia. If their genitals do not look the way they are "supposed to," then some women may limit their sexual experience out of shame and embarrassment until they achieve the aesthetic genital ideal.

Each of the thirty surgeons' websites analyzed in this study reported on the appearance, shape, color and size of a woman's genitals before undergoing genital cosmetic surgery. Women's pre-surgical genitals were described on the surgeons' websites as "atypical," "asymmetric," "enlarged," "protruding," "hypertrophic," "hyper pigmented," "sagging," "damaged," and "defected." The Toronto Cosmetic Clinic website reports that "vaginal defects include weak muscles, poor tone, and flaccid skin" (About Vaginoplasty Surgery, 2014, para.1). Dr. Stanton describes women's genitals before surgery as having "excessive length, thickness, dark pigmentation, and asymmetric labia" (What makes a good candidate," 2008, para.1). This type of medical discourse used to discuss women's genitals before surgery positions "large" and "asymmetric" labia as a "problem" requiring medical treatment. For example, on "The Plastic Surgery Clinic" website, Dr. Lista and Dr. Ahmad explain that having "large labia" is a "problem" for women that can be easily "corrected":

If you have lived with this problem [of having large labia] for years, you may be surprised to learn that this problem is easily corrected with a relatively minor procedure performed in the plastic surgery clinic ("Labia reduction," n.d. para. 2).

Based on the extensive list of women's pre-surgical vaginal "irregularities," most women might meet the requirements for FGCS, as there appears to be limited room for female genital variation that would not qualify for such surgery. By presenting women's presurgical genitals in this way, surgeons' websites pathologize variation in female genitalia.

According to the Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists of Canada, "there is a wide spectrum of normal anatomic variation in female genitalia" (2013, p. 3). If the women on the online forums are any indication of female genital variation, then labia minora that may be visible past the labia majora are certainly common and perhaps more average than having non-visible labia minora. Nevertheless, labia minora continue to be labeled "defective" so long as they hang past the labia majora. The description on clinic websites used to explain women's genital variations invokes notions of abnormality, with words such as "condition" and "protrusion" used to describe "hypertrophic" labia, while the diagnosis of "hypertrophic labia" locates certain natural genital appearances within the realm of the medical and the pathological. This type of discourse could perhaps serve to encourage women who may already be unsure if there is something wrong with their genitals to seek medical "help." Likewise, this use of language may also encourage others, who may not have necessarily thought about FGCS, to monitor their genitals for the above mentioned "conditions" and "problems" outlined on clinic websites. Because these descriptions of women's pre-surgical genitals come from an often-trusted source (i.e., medical provider websites), the descriptions perform important ideological work in presenting a subjective opinion – labia that are large are considered problematic by some - as an objective truth - large labia are a problem - thus, surgery is then constructed as a reasonable solution to a genuine "disorder."

Genitalia Post-Surgery

Women's descriptions of their genitals before surgery were in marked contrast to the genitals they wished to have, or desired to have, after surgery. My findings suggest that women's reactions to their post-surgical genitals fell into three main categories: satisfied; ambivalent; and discontented. It is important to restate that not all of the women whose posts are analyzed in this study had already undergone FGCS; some women were waiting to have surgery, while others were debating whether to have surgery. Thus, the descriptions of women's genitals after surgery account for the fifteen women in this study who both had genital cosmetic surgery, and described in their posts their genitals after surgery. One of the most common reactions, expressed by seven women, was feelings of happiness and satisfaction with the results of the surgery and, specifically, the aesthetics of their genitals. As Brittany explained, "I did not realize it [her vagina] hung open so much since now it seems so small." Allison, who underwent labiaplasty for comfort and aesthetic reasons, described her modified genitals after surgery as "gorgeous," "attractive," and "even," while Jaclyn described her genitals after labiaplasty as "neat and pretty and all I ever wanted it to be." These women also stated that after they had FGCS their vulva resembled a "normal" vulva. Mary, a twenty-one-year-old woman who underwent labiapasty, states, "Today, for the first time, my vagina looks like a normal vagina." According to Mary, her vagina finally resembled a "normal" vagina now that it appeared "neat, even and symmetrical." Other descriptors women used for their surgically altered genitals were "sleek," "smooth," "small," and "thin."

Women who were happy with the outcomes of their surgery seem to reflect a shared understanding that desirable and beautiful vulvas are simultaneously "small,"

"neat," and "attractive," with little to no labia minora visible (i.e., the opposite of the wayward, pre-surgery genitalia). As discussed in Chapter Three, this desirable vulva is consistent with the description of the "ideal" vulva found in much of the theoretical literature surrounding female genital cosmetic surgery and the female body, which is described as resembling a perfect shape 'V' with symmetrical and small labia minora (McDougall, 2013). This ideal narrows the range of acceptable genital aesthetics, creating one hegemonic and homogenous idealized vulva, which women are now expected to achieve (Braun, 2010).

In contrast to these positive outcomes, six women expressed feelings of uncertainty towards their modified genitals, describing their post-surgical genitals in a very different way than the previous (positive) descriptions. Alex mentions that after having FGCS her genital region is "now a very different shape" and her new genitals look odd: "[I] look at it [her vulva] with a little handheld mirror and think it looks a bit weird, like sort of sewn up just too far." Likewise Brenda, who underwent labiaplasty, explains that it "looks like I have three labia" instead of two after her surgery:

The right side and the left side look even and symmetrical when you look at it with my legs together and then when I spread the labia, there is this other smaller labia inside that closes the vaginal entrance. I don't know why this would happen or if this requires corrective surgery.

Finally, one woman was discontented with the results of her surgery. Susan, who is in her early forties and who underwent both labiaplasty and clitoral hood reduction together, expressed dissatisfaction with her post-surgical genitals, describing them as "unrecognizable:"

To be honest, everything down below is unrecognizable. Obviously I'm familiar with my own female anatomy and I am so worried and confused with the whole

situation and everything I see down there. I feel as though my whole vagina has been burnt off and my clitoral hood seems to be in many pieces.

The seven women in total who expressed feelings of uncertainty and dissatisfaction with their post-surgical genitals in this study explained that they felt this way due to the differentness of their vulvas, and specifically their labia and clitoral hood, verses what they are normally used to. This ambivalence towards their genitals after surgery may also stem from the issue that the ideal image these women may have had in their mind of what their genitals would look like after surgery may not have necessarily matched what their actual genitals resembled after undergoing the surgery. Further, while it appears that only one of the women in this study described complete dissatisfaction with her post-surgical genitals, these outcomes may not necessarily paint an accurate picture of the long-term outcomes of FGCS in general, since there is currently little research done or known on the long-term outcomes of these procedures (Braun, 2010). Since the women in this study who described their post-surgery genitals did so shortly after having surgery (i.e., descriptions did not include surgeries from years prior), it is possible that the same women who described their genitals in a positive way may have different feelings towards their genitals in years to come (e.g., during pregnancy and menopause when the female genitalia may change a considerable amount, see Farage & Maibach, 2006).

The positive descriptions women reported of their genitals after surgery echo the descriptions of women's post-surgery genitals on surgeons' websites. After surgery, female genitals are described on the clinic websites as "aesthetically pleasing," "contained," "tightened," "youthful," and "rejuvenated." Most of the websites report on the new and enhanced appearance of the surgically altered genitals in particular. For example, Dr. Edelstein's clinic website states that FGCS "enhances the aesthetic of the

genital area by making it look neater" (Labiaplasty: The Barbie and the traditional look, 2015, para. 5), and describes women's genitals as having a "streamlined and flatter appearance that has everything contained." This "containment" is referring to the labia minora no longer protruding past the labia majora. The containment of the labia is said to give the female genitals a "sleek and minimalist appearance" (Edelstein, J, 2015, "The Barbie labiaplasty," para. 1) with a "tight and petite 'stream-lined'" and "single crease look" (Toronto Cosmetic Clinic, 2014, "The Barbie labiaplasty," para. 2). Further, on "The Plastic Surgery Clinic" website, women's genitals after surgery are described as "even and small" and "more attractive to look at" ("Labia reduction," n.d, para. 1).

A recurring description of women's post-surgical genitals emerges on the clinic websites. The description of women's genitals after surgery represents the female genital ideal and largely includes a "contained" and "minimalist" genital aesthetic. This female genital ideal matches existing social constructions of women's sexuality more broadly, whereby women's sex drive is absent and their sexual behaviour repressed. However, this portrayal of women's sexuality conflicts with the natural appearance of women's genitals during sexual arousal, given the swelling that occurs (Blackledge, 2004). Further, this recurring description of women's post-surgical genitals may be grounded in historical characteristics of protruding labia minora and sexual promiscuity (Manderson, 2004). For example, over the past few centuries, women's genitals have been the focus of scientific research whether it was because of race or sexuality. In the nineteenth and twentieth century, appropriate female embodiment and sexuality were judged based on women's "excessive" genital tissue. For example, in the early 1800's, the display of Saartjie Baartman, a member of the Khoi-San peoples of South Africa, was put on public display

to show her "abnormal" and elongated genitalia (Young, 1997). Similarly, in the nineteenth and twentieth century, measurements of the genitals of prostitutes and lesbian women were conducted to determine pathological difference between women's genitals (Terry, 1990). In the twenty-first century this "excess" of the labia still remains problematic, resulting in the relatively new medical diagnosis of labial hypertrophy. Therefore, the surgeons' descriptions of women's surgically enhanced genitalia may portray a progression from historical social constructions of female anatomy and female sexuality.

Women's genitals after FGCS were also described as having a more "natural elliptical contour" to the vulva (Levine, R., 2015, "Labia sculpting," para. 1), and as having a "sleeker, thinner, more comfortable, and more appealing size and shape with typically excellent, very natural-looking results" (Rho, R., n.d., "Labiaplasty," para. 4). What is particularly interesting about the descriptions of women's genitals post-surgery is use of the term "natural" to describe women's surgically enhanced genitals. This type of discourse serves to enforce the idea that FGCS improves the female genital appearance by producing "natural" looking results. Of course this idea is contradictory, since in actuality, FGCS is taking the very "natural" aesthetics of the female genital it claims to produce and instead constructing artificial (surgically modified) genitals. By describing surgically enhanced female genitals as "natural" and women's non-surgically enhanced genitals as "problems" and "conditions," this type of discourse points to the idea of artificially or surgically enhanced genitals as becoming the new standard of naturalness. This is ultimately a paradox: in order for women to have what the surgeon's describe as "natural" looking genitals, women must undergo genital cosmetic surgery.

Although a pathological understanding of women's genitals is not new (see Terry, 1990; Young 1997), the rhetoric used on surgeons' websites, including adjectives such as "sagging," "loose," "uneven," protruding" and "large" as well as "conditions," "problems," and "issues," which are used to describe women's genitals pre-surgery, further pathologize variation among women's genitals. This works to promote (greater) vaginal distress and anxiety for women, while at the same time creating a consumer market for these types of procedures.

Section IV: The "Normal" versus The "Abnormal"

Consistent with the findings of previous research (Davis, 2009), I find that in the field of FGCS, the normal, non-surgically enhanced body is pathologized through an explicit differentiation between normal and abnormal/right and wrong bodies. This theme is most often conveyed through the use of language, but is also implied visually. In 1999, cultural scholar Simone Davis (2002) consulted an FGCS surgeon who informed her that "the ideal look for labia minora was not only minimal and unextended but also symmetrical, 'homogenously pink' and not wavy'" (2002, p. 15). This notion of "normality" is often discussed in the context of an increasing change in Western cultures — a shift towards "corporeal normalization, medicalization, commodification, and self-surveillance" (McHugh, 2013, p. 8). The construction of "normality" versus "deviance" or "normal" versus "abnormal" regarding female genitals and their surgical alteration is culturally shaped in the discourses of aesthetic medicine and the media. McHugh, while speaking specifically about facial cosmetic surgery in his book, *Faces Inside and Outside the Clinic* (2013), examines the "normal" and the "abnormal" at length, and much of his

100

_

²⁰ This theme of normal and abnormal bodies portrayed visually will be discussed further in this section under "Visual Persuasion: "Before" and "After" Images."

discussion can be applied to the construction of "normal" and "abnormal" female genitals. He states, "what is deemed to be 'normal' is defined, in part, by the situated *milieu* – the culture, the workplace, the physical location, the time, and space – in which individuals find themselves" (2013, p. 64). That is, what is considered "normal" or correct largely depends on the context and environment in which one is situated. This means that standards of what it means to be "normal" or "healthy" are socially and culturally dictated.

The "Normal" Vulva

Among the posts written by women who have had, or who want to have, FGCS, almost all of the women indicated a longing for what is often referred to as the "normal" vulva. Alex expresses in her post that she had labiaplasty surgery because she "just wanted to be normal" in her genital region. In a similar fashion, twenty-two year-old Fay explains that she wanted genital surgery to "shape her to a normal size," while Mary explains the reason that she had surgery was to achieve "a normal looking vagina." According to the women in this study, "normal" genitals meant having a small(er), tight(er), and a more even vulva. According to Gail, she is "so happy that [she] now feels like [she] has a nice little normal vagina instead of an embarrassing big hole." Willow, who underwent two labiaplasties (the second one was to fix complications from her first surgery), referred to her labia after her second surgery as "very tiny and normal now." Another description of "normal" genitals, and indeed one to which I had previously given very little thought, was the idea of having light(er) pigmentation in the genital region. Specifically, Mary identified a "normal" vagina as one that does not have dark pigmentation when she explains, "Today my vagina finally almost looks like a normal

one. Everyday the color turns a healthier pinky color." The desire to have "normal" genitals for these women can also be understood as a desire to fit in with the perceived feminine ideal. Further, these women may also be seeking a "normal" vulva in order to avoid possible embarrassment with sexual partners.

Surgeons' websites also attempted to distinguish between "normal" and "abnormal" female genitals. Eighteen of the clinic websites gave some sort of description of what a "normal" vulva *should* look like, and unsurprisingly, the description of a "normal" vulva on each of these websites is quite consistent. The websites described a questionably narrow appearance norm, which included female genitals that are smooth-skinned, symmetrical, small and neat, with invisible labia:

The normal female external genitalia have two sets of labia: the labia majora and labia minora. The labia majora are the larger outer lips. The labia minora are the smaller inner lips. They are more delicate and are hairless. Normally the labia minora protrude *slightly* beyond the level of the labia majora (Lista, F., & Ahmad, J., n.d. "The best candidates for labia reduction," para. 1).

Further, Dr. Rho from "The Labiaplasty Master Surgery Center of New York," explains that "normal" female genitals (those that do not require surgery) are "sleek, thin, [with a] average shape and size" ("Labiaplasty," n.d., para. 4). While "The Toronto Cosmetic Clinic" website states that there is "no protrusion of the labia minora" for "normal" female genitals ("Why Labiaplasty," 2015, para. 1). Interestingly, out of the thirty clinic websites analyzed in this study, it appears that only one website mentioned that "all labia are 'normal,'" and come in different shapes and sizes; however, this same website also mentions that just because a woman's genitals may be "normal" does not necessarily mean she must be satisfied or happy with them, and in fact may still very well be interested in elective genital surgery:

It's all "normal." But, just because it's "normal" (like very small breasts, or breasts that have lost their shape after bearing children) doesn't mean that a woman is satisfied with the appearance and might, exactly like having breast size augmented or reduced, wish to change the appearance and size to one that better suits her desires (Goodman, M., 2015, "Genital cosmetic surgery FAQ," para. 2).

This excerpt is particularly interesting, in that it uses an alternative discourse, "everyone is different, everyone is normal," as a marketing approach to promote these types of procedures. While at first glance this form of marketing may seem preferable over the discourse used to promote FGCS on the other clinic websites, it may simply be a substitute for the normalizing discourse found on other surgeons' websites, by focusing on a more consumerist ideology, which promotes the "be all that you can be" ideology common in neoliberal societies.

The creation of an idealized image for women's genitals have significant social implications, as it establishes the notion that there is a specific way a woman's genitals *ought to* and, indeed, *should* look. As previously explored in chapter three, "Theoretical Framework and Literature Review," definitions of "normal" and "abnormal" women's bodies are always changing, as these definitions are historically and structurally contingent. Simply by referring to a part of the body as "normal" or "right" infers that there can be a part of the body that is "abnormal" or "wrong." Further, it is important to examine the construction of the genital "norm" because, as Lennard Davis (2006) suggests, "the 'problem' is not the person with the disability; the problem is the way normalcy is constructed to create the 'problem' of the disabled person" (p. 3). The new "norm" for female genitals has become a standard to which genital variations are compared and measured, and has also come to be understood as the way "correctness" (McHugh, 2013) is recognized for female genitalia. The problem with the application of

the idea of a genital "norm" is that it produces the idea of "deviant" female genitalia, and forces the normal variation of women's genitals through a more stringent template of the way female genitals "should" look (Davis, 2006). An important concern is that with the pathologlization of genital diversity for women, through the promotion of certain desirable and ideal vulvar features, any anxieties women may have about their genitals could be enhanced, and develop into more significant distress and uncertainty about their vulva. Additionally, women who may have little to no concern about their genitals may suddenly pay closer attention to, and dislike, their genitals if they do not resemble the ideal "clean slit" (McDougall, 2013) described and depicted in FGCS discourse and imagery.

The "Abnormal" Vulva

According to Lennard Davis (2006), with the concept of the "norm" comes the concept of deviation, or "abnormality." Reflected in most of the women's posts on the online forums, as well as on the majority of surgeons' websites, was the understanding that women's genitals were no longer simply cosmetic or aesthetic problems, but had become pathological and medical problems, which are in need of medical attention. "Abnormal" female genitals were not discussed in as much depth as "normal" genitals were among women in the forums; indeed, one of the women, Idelle, who is in her early twenties, went as far as to state that she was aware "abnormal" genitals do not exist: "I know there is no such thing as abnormal genitals." Nonetheless, there was still some discussion about what constitutes "abnormal" female genitals. Descriptions of "abnormal" genitals included having a "large" vagina that "hangs wide open," as explained by Brittany who underwent vaginal tightening. More commonly, "abnormal"

genitals were described as large or protruding. For example, Olive explains in her post that she believes her genitalia are "not normal" because of her "larger than average labia," a conclusion she drew after comparing her genitals to other women's genitals which she had seen in the media. Further, Paige explains, "I feel I'm not normal [because] my labia come out really far."

All of the surgeons' websites in this study reported at least some type of characteristic of a woman's genitals that they would consider to be "abnormal," "atypical," or outside of the "norm," with almost no recognition conveyed that genital variation is in fact common and normal (aside from Dr. Goodman's clinic website, as previously stated). The websites imply genital "abnormality" with terms such as "asymmetric" or uneven, and "unusually shaped" to describe women's labia (Kasrai, L., 2008 "Labiaplasty," para. 2). Such "unusually shaped" labia includes "when the labia minora protrudes past the labia majora" (Edelstein, J., 2015, "Labiaplasty," para. 2), and when there is "excessive length" to the labia, or if a woman "suffers from [labial] hypertrophy" (Stanton, 2008, "What makes a good candidate," video). Dr. DuPéré explains that "vaginal irregularities" include labia that are "pronounced or long, thin, hyper pigmented or asymmetrical" ("How can labiaplasty help?" 2015, para. 2).

While measurements of male genitals are widely available in medical literature (and have been since the 1900's), in general, there are limited descriptions of female genitals in the medical literature, specifically regarding the exterior structure of the vulva (Lloyd, Crouch, Minto, Liao & Creighton, 2005). This is why it is particularly interesting how surgeons' websites frame common and natural genital variations as pathological problems, when in fact, the pathological genitals surgeons describe may not necessarily

be pathological at all. In a study conducted by Lloyd et al. measuring anatomical variations of adult female genitals, it was found that there are "wide variations [...] in both the appearance and dimensions of female genitalia," all of which are considered to be healthy and common. For instance, their study found that labia minora dimensions displayed a large genital variation ranging between twenty and one-hundred millimetres in length (Lloyd, et al., 2005, p. 644).

In McHugh's book, Faces Inside and Outside the Clinic, he raises the question, "since everyone is asymmetrical to some degree, what determines the amount of 'symmetry' that constitutes 'abnormality'?" (2013, p. 26). Surely, if surgeons' websites are stating that asymmetrical labia are cause for genital surgery, then the surgeons' standards should be clear and consistent in offering some sort of reference point whereby women can examine if their labia have the "normal" or "right" amount of unevenness or the "abnormal" and "wrong" amount of unevenness. This is not the case; out of the thirty clinic websites analyzed in this research, most simply stated rather vaguely that if a woman suffers from labia that are protruding or asymmetrical then she (probably) qualifies for FGCS. The language used to describe women's "abnormal" genitalia is vague and ambiguous, with no indication of what counts as too "large" or "protuberant," or what degree of variability is acceptable. The use of such language implicitly relies on a comparison in order to be meaningful; this comparison, of course, is that of the ideal female genitalia, with labia that are small, contained, and thus, "normal." A problem arises, however, regarding the way surgeons' websites define "normal" and "abnormal" genitals. It is clear that there is incongruence among these websites with alternating between providing specific definitions of "normal" genitals, while at the same time

describing "abnormal" genitals in vague and unclear terms. While a strict standard of the female genitalia may negatively affect women's psychological health and cause insecurity, which may drive women to seek FGCS, providing vague definitions of "abnormal" genitals may also cause women to assume that their somewhat long labia would be considered "abnormal" according to surgeons' definitions. Therefore, the clinic websites in this study appear to describe a strict standard associated with what the female genitals *should* look like, but vague definitions when they describe the shape and size of female genitals that are "abnormal" (i.e., using general terms such as "large" and "long"). This may aid in the belief that all genitalia that deviate from "the norm" are considered unattractive, and pathological, thus, creating a larger demand for FGCS.

With such rhetoric as "vaginal irregularities" used so often to describe common and natural variations of women's genitals, the practice and discourse of female genital cosmetic surgery as marketed on surgeons' websites appear to promote *one* genital aesthetic as "right" and simultaneously pathologize genital diversity in women. This is achieved by creating a dominant, hegemonic model of how a woman's vulva should look.

Also interesting is the fact that the descriptions of women's genitals before surgery resemble the descriptions of the "abnormal" vulva, while the descriptions of women's genitals after surgery mirror the descriptions of the "normal" female genitals. This encourages the idea that women's unmodified genitals are inherently abnormal, and the only way to achieve a normal vulva is through surgical intervention. By describing female genitals after surgery as normal, FGCS is creating a narrow and strict category for "normal" female genitals, while conveying the idea that women's genitals will only achieve this level of "normalcy" if they undergo surgery.

Visual Persuasion: "Before" and "After" Images

Twenty-four of the thirty clinic websites analyzed in this research provided some type of image on their website, whether of a naked woman covering her breasts and genital area with her hands paired with text such as, "Let our Cosmetic Surgeons be your beauty secret" (Jackson, R., 2015, "False Creek Health Care Centre"), or of a group of smiling, attractive women in conversation with one another (Lista & Ahmad, 2015, "Labia reduction"). Consistently, these photographs were inviting – showing women who appear youthful, beautiful, and physically fit, and who give the impression of being relaxed, happy and content.

The most common images presented on most of the websites in this study, however, were the "before" and "after" photographs of women's genitals. 21 The surgeons' websites often had a separate webpage dedicated to these types of photographs and the set up appeared to be nearly identical on each clinic website; the image of a woman's vulva before undergoing FGCS would be presented on the left side of the screen and directly to the right of this image or beneath it, a picture of (presumably) the same vulva, but after surgery, would be presented. These visual images further pathologize the non-modified female genitals. The "after" photograph often presented the woman's genital region as more appealing by displaying a (better) groomed, and "wellkept" genital area often in conjunction with better lighting and at times a more flattering angle. The "before" photographs would at times have someone's fingers pulling out the woman's labia, making them longer and reinforcing the idea that long labia are abnormal. It is expected that individuals should naturally agree that the "after" image is an

²¹ These images included pictures of real anatomy and displayed women's genital regions only. Women's faces or other parts of the body were not visible in the images.

improvement on the "before" image. This "before" and "after" set up is used to display what the aesthetically unpleasant and "problem" vulva looks like compared to what the "neat" and aesthetically pleasant vulva looks like, and to show women what their vulva has the *potential* to look like. Therefore, these "before" and "after" photographs display how the "abnormal" genitals can be *made* "normal." Additionally, by displaying these "before" and "after" surgery photographs, these websites are further promoting vulva distress while at the same time promoting the potential for transformation. That is, without technology, surgeries and other such means to remedy "abnormalities," individuals would have to remain "abnormal," however, because the means to achieve these levels of "normalcy" exist (i.e., FGCS), there is increased pressure to attain a "normal" vulva, which is a general feature of the medicalization process. For women who already have concerns about their genitals, surgery may come to occupy a position in which it is seen as the only solution to alleviate this stress. According to Mike Featherstone (1991), "media images invite comparisons: they are constant reminders of what we are and might with effort yet become" (p. 178). These images encourage women to take part in a process of self-surveillance through comparing their own natural genitals with the aesthetically displeasing pre-surgical genital images, and the "normal" and desirable post-surgical genital images.

As expected, the before and after surgery photographs displayed on the clinic websites show a limited, and very specific, range of genital appearances, whereby all of the "after" (surgery) images of women's genitals presented on any given website bear a strong resemblance to the "after" photographs found on the other clinic websites. By posting the "after" photographs of highly sculpted, nearly identical genitalia as the

aesthetic and healthy ideal, these surgeons implicitly pathologize the female genitalia featured in the "before" photographs as being "abnormal" or unnatural in some way, and as bodies that are in need of help, which require the surgeons' expert interpretation and hand.

Section V: Conclusion

This chapter has explored the ways in which women's genitals are divided into "right" and "wrong" or "normal" and "abnormal" genitals through the active practices and processes of medicalization as well as the pathologization of female genital diversity through the promotion of one ideal genital aesthetic. The process of medicalization and the practice of pathologizing female genital variations were explored by focusing on FGCS discourse and imagery on surgeons' websites as well as women's experiences with these surgeries, which has helped to explain how women come to experience their natural genital variations as "abnormal" or flawed.

Chapter Six: Conclusion

This thesis describes a qualitative media content analysis that compares women's reasons for undergoing FGCS with surgeons' representations of the reasons women have FGCS. This study has explored women's experiences and feelings about genital cosmetic procedures, and their insecurities about their genitals. As well, this study has explored how FGCS procedures are advertised and marketed on clinic websites, and the possible implications these marketing techniques may have. In this chapter, I provide a brief overview of my main findings, the significance of this research and the importance of studying this type of surgery, and directions for future research.

Section I: Summary of Findings

This research project produced several key findings. Chapter Four explored three important categories of findings in particular: 1) women's reasons for undergoing FGCS and surgeons' representations of reasons women have FGCS; 2) the "ideal" versus the passive FGCS patient; and 3) the risks and success associated with FGCS. One of the main findings from this chapter reflected in women's posts about their experiences with genital cosmetic surgeries, was that undergoing female genital cosmetic surgery is rarely a straightforward answer to a clear-cut problem. The women's posts revealed a multitude of complex reasons for their desire to undergo FGCS. Women's reasons fell into four main categories: aesthetic concerns, psychological issues, physical discomfort caused by their labia minora, and lastly, sexual problems and the hope that surgery would enhance their sexual pleasure. The four main reasons women explained for wanting surgery were also found on the clinic websites. Surgeons' websites explained the primary reasons women undergo FGCS is to "enhance" their genital appearance, improve their emotional

wellbeing, help with physical discomfort, and increase their sexual pleasure. However, these websites also presented additional reasons why women might want to undergo FGCS, including hygienic concerns, sociocultural and religious reasons, and addressing the effects of pregnancy or childbirth.

Chapter Four also explored the way in which surgeons' websites described the "ideal" genital cosmetic surgery patient in comparison to the passive cosmetic surgery patient, and the ways in which women at times embody both patient positions. The websites positioned the "ideal" patient as an empowered and informed woman who is undergoing surgery for herself. The women in this study embodied this idea of the "ideal" patient through actively researching the surgeries, attempting to locate the "best" surgeon to perform their surgery, as well as at times explaining that they are choosing to have surgery to make themselves happy and not to make someone else happy, such as a partner, for example. The portrayal of the "ideal patient" on surgeons' websites works to position the choice to have FGCS as an empowered and individual decision, which may potentially work to make women's decisions in favour of FGCS seem reasonable. The websites oppose the "ideal" patient to the passive, and thus, least appropriate cosmetic patient. This type of patient is least desirable to many because of her unquestioning dependency on the medical expert. I found that at times some women have little choice but to embody this passive role. The difference between passive and ideal rests on the disparity of medical knowledge between the women having the surgery and the surgeons performing the surgery, which means these women have little option but to rely on surgeons and their medical expertise.

Lastly, Chapter Four examined how FGCS risks and success are marketed on surgeons' websites in comparison to women's accounts of their experiences with the risks associated with genital cosmetic surgery. Two major findings were presented in this section. First, out of thirty clinic websites in this research, half of these websites left out information concerning the risks associated with FGCS altogether, while the other half that described FGCS risks downplayed these risks. Second, while the risks of FGCS were downplayed or not described at all on the websites, the success stories of FGCS were emphasized. The websites that described FGCS risks and attempted to downplay these risks did so by distancing genital cosmetic surgeries from other more "serious" cosmetic procedures. The websites highlighted successful case studies and emphasized the apparent benefits and positive outcomes FGCS can provide women. While the websites also claimed that genital cosmetic surgeries have high success rates, they often failed to provide credible, research-based evidence for these claims. Finally, this section explored the risks women reported experiencing after undergoing surgery, which were not mentioned on the clinic websites. The main risks women mentioned included having to undergo a second corrective surgery to fix complications from the first surgery, not being able to lubricate well after surgery, and experiencing irregular bleeding weeks after having the surgery. While clinic websites promote FGCS as having more benefits for women than risks, it is not yet clear whether the benefits of FGCS actually outweigh the risks. An important note to end with, then, is that women who are interested in FGCS should be well informed of both possible benefits and possible risks that are associated with these surgeries.

Chapter Five of this study explored four key themes: 1) the process of medicalization and how women experience medicalization at the "conceptual" and the "interactional" level as well as the possible implications medicalization may have for women; 2) the dramatic difference of both women's and surgeon's accounts of women's genitals before surgery in comparison to the description of women's genitals after surgery; 3) the difference between "normal" and "abnormal" genitals and how "normal" and "abnormal" genitals are discussed by women and surgeons' websites; and 4) the use of "before" surgery and "after" surgery photographs of women's genitals on surgeons' websites. An important finding from this chapter was how the medicalization of female genitals has the effect of making genital surgery seem like a reasonable solution to genital insecurities.

The first section in Chapter Five examined the process of medicalization. In particular, this section examined how women in this study experienced medicalization at the "conceptual" and "interactional" level (Conrad, 1992). An important finding in this section is how, by using the concept of medicalization, one can better understand how women come to experience their own genitals as flawed or "abnormal." The women's posts reflected that the medicalization of healthy female vulvas at both the conceptual and interactional levels effectively masked the underlying social causes of the women's feelings that their genitals were defective and abnormal. The women's accounts reflected that, at the conceptual level, the clinic websites described women's genitals as wrong or "abnormal" by using terms such as "hypertrophic," "atrophy" and "hypoplasia," describing common genital variations as medical problems. The women's individual feelings of defectiveness and abnormality were later confirmed at the interactional level

when the cosmetic surgeons defined and treated women's genitals as medical problems. By positioning the female genitals within a medical discourse, anything outside of narrowly defined sociocultural understandings of an acceptable female vulva was positioned as a medical problem, which required surgical intervention.

An additional key finding in this chapter is the dramatic difference in the ways in which women's genitals are described before and after undergoing FGCS. All thirty women in this study described their pre-surgical genitals as problems they have had to deal with for most of their lives. The women's descriptions of their genitals before surgery helped to explain why they felt it was necessary to undergo genital cosmetic surgery. Some women explained that they were deeply ashamed of their genitals to the point where they limited their sexual experience because of the shame and embarrassment they felt. Further, using words such as "damaged," "disorder" and "problematic," surgeons' websites described women's pre-surgical genitals using negative connotations. A main finding here was that surgeons' websites framed genital cosmetic surgery as a necessary or required procedure in order to "correct" women's genitals to a more "normal" size and shape.

The descriptions of both surgeons' websites and women's accounts of women's genitals pre-surgery contrast sharply with the descriptions post-surgery. After having surgery, some of the women's posts reflected that cosmetic genital surgery was ultimately worth the pain and suffering involved as it permitted them to experience their genitals as feminine, beautiful, and sexually desirable. These women expressed that their genitals were no longer sources of embarrassment, discomfort, and markers of "abnormality." Other women, however, were ambivalent about or discontented with their

genitals after surgery. These women explained they felt their genitals did not resemble what they had originally thought their genitals would look like; one woman explained that she was horrified by the appearance of her genitals after surgery and regretted her decision to have FGCS. Surgeons' websites also described women's genitals after surgery. These websites reported on the new and enhanced appearance of the surgically altered genitals in particular. On these websites, post-surgery genitals were described repeatedly as "neat," "contained," and "small." These descriptions serve to further limit the acceptable range of female genitals, thus widening the definition of "abnormal" genitals.

The third section in Chapter Five focused on the distinction between "normal" and "abnormal" female genitalia. At times, the women in this study expressed the desire for a "normal" vulva, which they described as having symmetrical and small labia minora. Specifically, the women's posts reflect that while women's genitals may be valued in our culture, one size and shape of female genitals is viewed as most valuable and "normal," and that is one that is small, neat, and even. This valued aesthetic ideal emerged on the clinic websites as well when they described "normal" female genitals. Their description of "normal" genitals represents a very narrow appearance norm, one that leaves little room for genital variation. Surgeons' websites explain that "normal" female genitals are "small" and "contained," with little to no labia minora visible; this mirrors the description of women's post-surgical genitals in section two of Chapter Five, implying that surgery is a route to normalization. Further, women did not necessarily describe "abnormal" female genitalia as much as they described "normal" genitalia; indeed, one woman in particular explained that there is no such thing as "abnormal"

genitals. Women who discussed "abnormal" genitals reflected the idea that "abnormal" vulvas were the opposite of small and even; they were "large," "uneven," and unattractive. Similarly, all of the surgeons' websites reported at least some characteristics of a woman's genitalia they would consider "abnormal." Essentially all genital variations that did not resemble the symmetrical, contained and thus aesthetically pleasant vulva were described as "abnormal" or "atypical." Thus, a main finding in this section was that the clinic websites described a strict standard for how women's genitals should look, while also providing vague and broad descriptors of what "abnormal" female genitals look like. This may contribute to the idea that all genitals that deviate from the genital norm are "abnormal," resulting in a larger demand for FGCS.

The last section in Chapter Five examined the photographs presented on clinic websites, and in particular, the "before" surgery and "after" surgery photographs of women's genitalia. The overall finding from this section was that the "after" photographs were identical on each clinic website, and showed a limited and very specific range of genital appearances. These photographs represented visually this idea of the "normal" and "abnormal" vulva, by displaying how the "abnormal" genitals can be *made* "normal."

In sum, this research suggests that there are many reasons why women undergo FGCS, and it is important to highlight that, ultimately, electing to have genital cosmetic surgery comes down to a perception that women's genitals are flawed and "abnormal" (aside from the rare cases when women are being physically hampered by their genital structure). This is due in large part to emerging normative standards of the vulva, which surgeons' websites reinforce by presenting women's reasons for FGCS as self-evident,

medically-endorsed and "fixable" through a supposedly "minimal-risk" cosmetic procedure.

Section II: Significance of Study

This study has the potential to make significant contributions at both academic and policy-making levels. The practical significance of this study was to fill a gap in research on the reasons why women undergo female genital cosmetic surgery. While this study does provide a basis for understanding the reasons women have FGCS, it is limited because I did not speak directly to the women who have had or wish to have FGCS as well as the surgeons who perform these surgeries. Nevertheless, this project does have the potential to contribute to social policy, by producing sociological research on the online marketing and promotion of genital cosmetic surgeries. This may help direct policymakers' decision-making regarding the regulation of cosmetic genital surgery marketing practices.

Through conducting this research, my aim was to critically explore this form of cosmetic intervention, in order to understand the meanings and reasons women and surgeons provide for why women undergo FGCS procedures. This research has the potential to help broaden the debates surrounding FGCS by soliciting and exploring women's views on these surgeries. This is an important contribution, as for too long these views have been dismissed or regarded as the product of mere "cultural dupes" unable to resist outside influences, and assumptions have been made about these women without any rigorous investigation. This research also has the potential to provide information on the marketing practices and techniques medical provider websites employ to help

promote their clinics and surgeries and the effects these marketing techniques may have, particularly on women.

Further, this study aids in our understanding of the reasons why women may feel they must undergo cosmetic genital surgery, an important aspect of FGCS that has not previously been investigated. Such information helps to clarify the active role I believe women play in choosing to undergo FGCS. Female genital cosmetic surgery, as a form of cosmetic intervention, demands investigation, because it has the potential to intensify preoccupation and worry about the body when many women are already consumed with such worries. According to the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH), one in five women suffer from some form of an eating disorder or disordered eating, which has been attributed to a particularly narrow and unrealistic set of standards of feminine beauty in western, consumer culture. The growth of FGCS has the potential to generate new, even more, invasive standards against which women could be (and indeed often are) judged.

Section III: Future Directions

As the rate of FGCS procedures increases there is a need for further research to better understand this phenomenon. While this thesis has produced several important findings on the topic of female genital cosmetic surgery, it has also revealed several possible avenues for future research. Specifically, there is still need for research around FGCS and patients' knowledge and perceptions of "normal" vulva anatomy. That is, where did the genital aesthetic ideal and the idea of a "normal" vulva originate? In particular, there is need for future research to engage in more longitudinal research surrounding the long-term outcomes of FGCS, as well as accurate and reliable research on the risks and success of genital cosmetic surgery over time. As well, a noticeable

absence on the online forums and several of the surgeons' websites, which warrants further study, was the cost of having FGCS. But perhaps most importantly, future research should aim to explore the stories and experiences women have to offer about their experiences with female genital cosmetic surgery.

Given the proliferation of FGCS it is important to look more closely at how women are talking about these procedures and how they are being marketed and presented on surgeons' websites. FGCS is an invasive intervention on a body part that not many can see, and until recently, it is a body part that we understood as having no standard aesthetic. Although genital distress (for women in particular) is not a new phenomenon, women's genitals were, until relatively recently, largely excluded from the self-surveillance and improvement imperatives that cosmetic surgery culture demands. My concern is that if we do not look at how surgeons are promoting this and why women are undergoing it, it may become another unrealistic ideal women feel they need to mimic in order to be "beautiful."

References:

- Abate, M. A. (2010). "Plastic makes perfect": My beautiful mommy, cosmetic surgery, and the medicalization of motherhood. *Women's Studies*, *39*(7), 715-746. doi: 10.1080/00497878.2010.505152
- Altheide, D. L. (1987). Ethnographic content analysis. *Qualitative Research*, 10 (1), 65-77.
- Altheide, D. L. (1996). *Qualitative Media Analysis*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Attwood, F. (2006). Sexed Up: Theorizing the sexualization of culture. *Sexualities*, 9(1), 77-94.
- Balsamo, A. M. (1996). On the cutting edge: Cosmetic surgery and new imaging technologies. *Technologies of the gendered body: Reading cyborg women* (pp. 56-79). Durham: Duke University Press.
- Bartky, S. (1990). Femininity and domination. New York: Routledge.
- Blake, J. (2011, March 18). Cosmetic labioplasty: snip cut: is it OK to cut our labia? Retrieved from http://womenandhealth.sunnybrook.ca/search?updated-max=2011-03-25T21:18:00-04:00&max-results=4&start=20&by-date=false.
- Blackledge, C. (2004). *The story of V: A natural history of female sexuality*. New Brunswick, N.J: Rutgers University Press.
- Blum, V. L. (2003). *Flesh Wounds: The Culture of Cosmetic Surgery*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Bordo, S. (1997). "Material girl": The effacements of postmodern culture. In Roger N. Lancaster, Micaela Di Leonardo (Eds.), *The Gender/sexuality reader: Culture, history, political economy* (pp. 335-357). Routledge.
- Braun, V. (2005). In search of (better) sexual pleasure: Female genital 'cosmetic' surgery. *Sexualities*, 8(4), 407-424.
- Braun, V. (2009). 'The women are doing it for themselves': The rhetoric of choice and agency around female genital 'cosmetic surgery.' *Australian Feminist Studies*, 24(60), 233-249.

- Braun, V. (2010). Female genital cosmetic surgery: A critical review of current knowledge and contemporary debates. *Journal of Women's Health (15409996)*, 19(7), 1393-1407.
- Braun, V., & Kitzinger, C. (2001). The perfectible vagina: Size matters. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, *3*(3), 263-277.
- Braun, V., & Tiefer, L. (2009). The 'designer vagina' and the pathologisation of female genital diversity: Interventions for change. *Radical Psychology: A Journal of Psychology, Politics & Radicalism, 8*(1), 1.
- Canada Revenue Agency. (2015). *Which medical expenses are not eligible?* Retrieved from: http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/tx/ndvdls/tpcs/ncm-tx/rtrn/cmpltng/ddctns/lns300-350/330/ntllwbl-eng.html.
- Conrad, P., & Kern, R. (1986). *The Sociology of health and illness: Critical perspectives*. New York: St. Martin's Press.
- Conrad, P. (1992). Medicalization and social control. *Annual Review of Sociology, 18*, 209-232.
- Conrad, P. & Leiter, V. (2004). Medicalization, Markets and Consumers. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 45, 158-176.
- Davis, K. (1991). Remaking the she-devil: A critical look at feminist approaches to beauty. *Hypatia*, 6(2), 21-43.
- Davis, K. (1995). *Reshaping the female body: The dilemma of cosmetic surgery*. New York: Routledge.
- Davis, K. (1997). *Embodied practices: Feminist perspectives on the body*. London; Thousand Oaks, Calif: Sage.
- Davis, K. (2003). *Dubious Equalities & Embodied Differences: Cultural Studies on Cosmetic Surgery*. Lanham: Rowan & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.
- Davis, K. (2009). Revisiting feminist debates on cosmetic surgery: Some reflections on suffering agency and embodied difference. In M. Jones & C. J. Heyes (Eds.), *Cosmetic surgery: A feminist primer* (pp. 35 –48). Burlington. VT: Ashgate.

- Davis, L. (2006). Constructing normalcy: the bell curve, the novel, and the invention of the disabled body in the nineteenth century. In L. Davis (Eds.), *The disability studies reader*. (pp.3-16). New York: Routledge.
- Davis Weil, S. (2002). Loose Lips Sink Ships. Feminist Studies 28 (1), 7-35.
- Dolezal, L. (2010). The (in)visible body: Feminism, phenomenology, and the case of cosmetic surgery. *Hypatia*, 25(2), 357-375.
- Duke, L., & Kreshel, P.J. (1998) Negotiating femininity: Girls in early adolescence read teen magazines. *Journal Of Communication Inquiry*. 22(1), 48-71.
- Durham, M. G. (2008). The Lolita effect: The media sexualization of young girls and what we can do about it. Woodstock, NY: Overlook Press
- Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(1), 107-115.
- Evans, A., Riley, S. & Shankhar, A. (2010) Sexualization of culture technologies of sexiness: Theorizing women's engagement. *Feminism & Psychology*, 20, 1, 114-131.
- Farage, M., & Maibach, H. (2006). Lifetime changes in the vulva and vagina. *Archives Of Gynecology and Obstetrics*. 273(4). 195-202.
- Farahi, F., Lara-Torre, E., McCuin, E. (2014). Self-attempted labioplasty with elastic bands resulting in severe necrosis. *Lower Genital Tract Disease*, 19(3), 1-3.
- Featherstone, M. (1991). The Body in Consumer Culture. In M. Featherstone, M. Hepworth, and B.S. Turner (Eds). *The Body: Social Process and Cultural Theory* (pp. 170-196). London: Sage Publications.
- Fraser, S. (2003). The agent within: Agency repertoires in medical discourse on cosmetic surgery. *Australian Feminist Studies*, 18(40), 27-44.
- Furedi, F. (2006). The end of professional dominance. *Society*, 43(6), 14-18.
- Gill, R. (2009). Beyond the 'sexualization of culture' thesis: An intersectional analysis of 'sixpacks', 'midriffs' and 'hot lesbians' in advertising. *Sexualities*, *12*(2), 137-160. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1363460708100916

- Gilman, S. L. (1999). *Making the body beautiful: A cultural history of aesthetic surgery*. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press.
- Gimlin, D. (2000). Cosmetic surgery: Beauty as commodity. *Qualitative Sociology*, 23(1), 77-98.
- Glaser, B.G. (2005). *The grounded theory perspective III: Theoretical coding.* Mill Valley CA: Sociology Press.
- Goodman, M. P., Bachmann, G., Johnson, C., Fourcroy, J. L., Goldstein, A., Goldstein, G., & Sklar, S. (2007). Is elective vulvar plastic surgery ever warranted, and what screening should be conducted preoperatively? *Journal of Sexual Medicine*, *4*(2), 269-276.
- Green, F. J. (2005). From clitoridectomies to 'designer vaginas': The medical construction of heteronormative female bodies and sexuality through female genital cutting. *Sexualities, Evolution & Gender, 7*(2), 153-187
- Gulbus, L., (2013). Surgical transformations in the pursuit of gender. In Brettell, C. B., & Sargent, C. F., (Eds.), Gender in cross-cultural perspective. (pp. 196-202). Boston Press.
- Harris, D. L., and Carr, A. T. (2001). Prevalence of concern about physical appearance in the general population. *British Journal of Plastic Surgery*, 54(3), 223-226.
- Hether, H.J., Murphy, S.T., Valente, T.W. (2014). It's better to give than to receive: The role of social support, trust, and participation on health-related social networking sites. *Journal of Health Communication*, 1-16.
- Holmberg, C. B. (1998). *Sexualities and popular culture*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Hughes, N.S. (2001). Bodies for sale -- whole or in parts. Body & Society, 7(2), 1-8.
- Jeffreys, S. (2005). *Beauty and Misogyny: Harmful Cultural Practices in the West*. New York: Routledge.

- Jhally, S., In Kilbourne, J., Rabinovitz, D., & Media Education Foundation. (2010). *Killing us softly 4: Advertising's image of women*. Northampton, MA: Media Education Foundation.
- Jones, R. (1995). Why do qualitative research? *BMJ: British Medical Journal (International Edition)*, 311(6996), 2-2.
- Khoo, C. (2009). Risk reduction in cosmetic surgery. Clinical Risk. 15(6), 237-240.
- Kirkey, Sharon. (2014, May 9). *Is it unethical for Canadian doctors to perform female gential cosmetic surgery?* Retrieved from http://www.vancouversun.com/health/sexualhealth/unethical+Canadian+doctors+perform+female+genital/9815946/story.html. Accessed May 10, 2014.
- Large Labia Project (n.d). Retrieved June 1, 2014, from http://largelabiaproject.org/.
- Leach, H., Flintoff, T. (Producer) & Leach, H. (Director). (2008). *The Perfect Vagina* (Motion Picture). United Kingdom: Blue Post Production.
- Leist, A. (2003). What makes bodies beautiful. *Journal of Medicine & Philosophy, 28*(2), 187-219.
- Leve, M., Rubin, L., & Pusic, A. (2012). Cosmetic surgery and neoliberalisms: Managing risk and responsibility. *Feminism & Psychology*, 22(1), 122-141.
- Liao, M. N., & Creighton, S. M. (2007). Requests for cosmetic genitoplasty: how should healthcare providers resond? BMJ, 334 (7603), 1090-1092.
- Litmaer, R. (2010). The beauty and the beast inside: The American beauty—Does cosmetic surgery help?. *Journal Of The American Academy Of Psychanalysis & Dynamic Psychiatry*. 38(2), 203-217.
- Lloyd, J., Crouch, N. S., Minto, C. L., Lih-Mei Liao, C., & Creighton, S. M. (2005). Female genital appearance: 'normality' unfolds. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, *112*(5), 643-646.
- Lupton, D. (1997). Consumerism, Reflexivity and the Medical Encounter. *Social Science & Medicine*, 45 (3), 373-381.
- Manderson, L. (2004). Local rites and body politics: Tensions between cultural diversity and human rights. *International Feminist Journal of Politics*, 6, 285–307.

- McDougall, L. (2013). Towards a clean slit: how medicine and notions of normality are shaping female genital aesthetics. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*. 15(7), 774-787.
- McGannon, K. R., Cunningham, S. M., & Schink, R. J. (2013). Understanding concussion in socio-cultural context: A media analysis of a national hockey league star's concussion. *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*, *14*(6), 891-899.
- McHugh, T. (2013). Faces inside and outside the clinic: A foucauldian perspective on cosmetic facial modification. Ashgate Publishing Ltd.
- McNair, B. (2002). *Striptease culture: Sex, media and the democratization of desire*. London: Routledge.
- McRobbie, A. (2009) *The aftermath of feminism: Gender, culture and social change*. London: Sage.
- Minichiello, V., Rahman, S., Dune, T., Scott, J., & Dowsett, G. (2013). E-health: Potential benefits and challenges in providing and accessing sexual health services. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(1), 1-7.
- Moran, C., & Lee, C. (2014). What's normal? influencing women's perceptions of normal genitalia: An experiment involving exposure to modified and nonmodified images. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 121*(6), 761-766.
- Morgan, K. P. (1991). Women and the knife: Cosmetic surgery and the colonization of women's bodies. *Hypatia*, 6(3), 25-53.
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2011). Eating disorders. Retrieved from http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/eating-disorders/index.shtml#pub1. Accessed June 10, 2014.
- Neasbitt, J. Y., & Rodriguez, J. M. (2011). Lip service(s): Discourses on designer vaginas. *Penn Bioethics Journal*, 7(1), 17-22.
- Negrin, L. (2002). Cosmetic surgery and the eclipse of identity. *Body & Society*, 8(4), 21-42.
- Nicholls, D. (2009). Qualitative research: Part one -- philosophies. *International Journal of Therapy & Rehabilitation*, 16(10), 526-533.

- O'Brien, C, M., Thorburn, T. G., Sibbel-Linz, A., & McGregor, A. D. (2006). Consent for plastic surgical procedures. *Journal of Plastic, Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery*, 59(9), 983-989.
- Pardo, J., Solà, V., Ricci, P., & Guilloff, E. (2006). Laser labioplasty of labia minora. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 93(1), 38-43.
- Pitts, V. (2003). *In the Flesh: The Cultural Politics of Body Modification*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Pitts-Taylor, V. (2007). *Surgery junkies: Wellness and pathology in cosmetic culture*. New Brunswick, N.J.: Rutgers University Press.
- Riessman Kohler, C. (2003). Women and Medicalization: A New Perspective. In R. Weitz, (Ed.) *The Politics of Women's Bodies: Sexuality, Appearance, and Behavior* (pp. 46-63). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Rodrigues, S. (2012). From vaginal exception to exceptional vagina: The biopolitics of female genital cosmetic surgery. *Sexualities*, *15*(7), 778-794. doi: 10.1177/1363460712454073.
- Sanchez Taylor, J. (2012). Buying and selling breasts: Cosmetic surgery, beauty treatments and risk. *Sociological Review*, 60(4), 635-653.
- Schick, V. R., Rima, B. N., & Calabrese, S. K. (2011). Evulvalution: The portrayal of women's external genitalia and physique across time and the current Barbie doll ideals. *Journal of Sex Research*, 48(1), 74-81.
- Shilling, C. (2003). *The body and social theory* (2nd ed., ed.) London; Thousand Oaks, Calif.: SAGE Publications.
- Stopped, M., Miedema, B., & Anderson, V. (2002). *Women's bodies/women's lives health, well-being and body image*. Toronto Ont: Sumach Press.
- Suchet, M. (2009). The 21st century body: Introduction. *Studies in Gender & Sexuality*, 10(3), 113-118. doi: 10.1080/15240650902979194.
- Simmons, O. E. (2006). Some professional and personal notes on research methods, systems theory, and grounded action. *World Futures: The Journal of General Evolution*, 62(7), 481-490.

- Tait, S. (2007). Television and the domestication of cosmetic surgery. *Feminist Media Studies*, 7(2), 119-135. doi: 10.1080/14680770701287076
- Terry, J. (1990). Lesbians under the medical gaze: Scientists search for remarkable differences. *Journal of Sex Research*, *27*(3), 317-339.
- The American Society of Plastic Surgeons. (2006). Cosmetic surgery gender distribution. Retrieved from http://www.plasticsurgery.org/Documents/news-resources/statistics/2006-Plastic-Surgery-Statistics/Cosmetic-Surgery-Gender-Distribution-Female.pdf. Accessed March 16, 2014.
- The American Society of Plastic Surgeons. (2015). Cosmetic Procedures. Retrieved from http://www.plasticsurgery.org/cosmetic-procedures.html.
- The American Society of Aesthetic Plastic Surgeons. (2013a). 2013 National totals for cosmetic procedures. Retrieved from http://www.surgery.org/sites/default/files/Stats2013_3.pdf. Accessed March 10, 2014.
- The American Society of Aesthetic Plastic Surgery. (2013b). Cosmetic surgery national data bank statistics. Retrieved from http://www.surgery.org/sites/default/files/Stats2013_3.pdf. Accessed March 10, 2014.
- The Royal College of Obstetricians & Gynaecologists. (2013). Ethical considerations in relation to female genital cosmetic surgery (FGCS). Retrieved from https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/guidelines/ethics-issues-and-resources/rcog-fgcs-ethical-opinion-paper.pdf. Accessed March 1, 2015.
- The Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists of Canada. (2013). Female genital cosmetic surgery. Retrieved from http://sogc.org/guidelines/female-genital-cosmetic-surgery/. Accessed May 10, 2014.
- Tiefer, L. (2008). Female genital cosmetic surgery: Freakish or inevitable? analysis from medical marketing, bioethics, and feminist theory. *Feminism & Psychology*, *18*(4), 466-479. doi:10.1177/0959353508095529
- Warsh, C. L. K. (2011). *Gender, health, and popular culture : Historical perspectives*. Waterloo, Ont: Wilfrid Laurier University Press.

- Whitehead, K., & Kurz, T. (2009). 'Empowerment' and the pole: A discursive investigation of the reinvention of pole dancing as a recreational activity. *Feminism & Psychology, 19*(2), 224-244. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0959353509102218
- Wesely, J. K. (2003). Exotic dancing and the negotiation of identity. *Journal Of Contemporary Ethnography*, 32(6), 643-669. doi:10.1177/0891241603257595.
- Wolf, N. (1990). The beauty myth. Mississauga, ON: Random House of Canada.
- Young, J. (1997). The Re-Objectification and Re-Commodification of Saartjie Baartman in Suzan-Lori Parks's Venus. *African American Review*. 31(4), 699-709.
- Zola, I. K. (1981). Medicine as an Institution of Social Control. In P. Conrad and R. Kern (Eds.) *The Sociology of Health and Illness: Critical Perspectives*. (pp. 511-527). New York: St. Martin's Press.

Appendix A: Coding Instrument For Surgeons' Websites Offering FGCS

Website Name: Website URL: Surgeons' Name: Clinic Location: 1. Types of procedures offered? examples: labiaplasty vaginal tightening g-spot amplification clitoral hood reduction hymen reconstruction
Description
2. Is there an ideal patient mentioned? Yes No examples: ideal candidates for FGCS are "doing it for themselves" (not influenced by outside forces, such as a partner) a woman who is "in good health"
Description
3. How is FGCS being presented? examples: a medical solution a way to help women a simple (minimal risk) surgery a way to enhance enjoyment of life a "beautifying" (appearance reasons) procedure
Description

4. In response to number 3, what medical solutions can FGCS offer?		
examples: FGCS may help with "labial hypertrophy"		
Description		
5. Is there use of medical rhetoric?		
Yes No		
examples: suggestions that FGCS is for medical reasons (such		
as the use of the term "labial hypertrophy" as an indication for		
labiaplasty) mention of the term "cosmetic genecology"		
Description		
4		
6. Are there reasons presented for why women undergo FGCS?		
Yes No		
examples: discomfort engaging in physical activities		
functional reasons appearance reasons (feeling "aesthetically		
unpleasant") childbirth sexual pleasure general unhappiness		
large or irregular genitals aging (hormonal changes)		
iarge of irregular germans aging (normonal enanges)		
Description		
Description		
7. Are benefits of FGCS stated or implied?		
Yes No		
examples: enhance genital appearance (feeling more attractive)		
restore youthful appearance greater confidence greater self-		
image less physical discomfort better hygiene		
mage rest projection devel in great		
Description		
Description		

8. Are success rates of surgery mentioned?
Yes No
Description
9. In response to number 8, if success rates of surgery are mentioned, what kind of evidence is provided and how is it being framed?
Description
10. Who is referenced or quoted for these success rates? examples: Statistics Canada doctors academic scholars
Description
11. Is there mention of outside/external influences women may experience for wanting to undergo FGCS? Yes No examples: significant other magazines/films
Description
12. Are there colloquial terms offered for the clinical procedures? Yes No examples: the "Barbie" the "traditional look" the "wonder woman / mommy makeover"
Description

13. Ar	re female genitalia pre-surgery that <i>warrant</i> surgery described? Yes No
	examples: abnormal sagging enlargaed excessive asymmetrical
Description	
14. Ar	re the female genitalia described after (post) surgery? Yes No
	examples: labia is symmetrical tight appealing clean
Description	
15. Ar	re "normal" genitals discussed? Yes No examples: "average size" of vagina, clitoris, labia small even
Description	
16. Ar	re "abnormal" genitals discussed? Yes No examples: "protruding labia" asymmetrical
Description	

17. Are the concepts of empowerment and / or liberation mentioned? Yes No
Description
18. Are concepts of oppression mentioned? Yes No
Description
19.Is there mention of potential risks/ complications involved with the surgeries? Yes No examples: infection bleeding scarring dissatisfaction with outcome loss of sensation
Description
20. Is there a cautionary section presented? (Are consumers advised to think carefully before opting for surgery) Yes No
Description

Yes No examples:	counseling services self-help resources
Description	
22. Is there ment surgery(s)? Yes No	ion of short-term or immediate outcomes of the
Description	
23. Is there mention Yes No	on of long-term outcomes of the surgery(s)?
Description	
24. Is there an ag surgery) Yes No	ge restriction for FGCS stated? (Minimum age for
Description	
25. Are success sto from previous p Yes No	ories featured? (Are there personal accounts/ stories patients)
Description	

21. Are there alternative resources for helping with issues associated

with genitalia?

Yes No
Description
27. Are images present? Yes No
Description
28. In response to question 27, if images are present, what are the images of? examples: "before" and "after" pictures
Description
29. Are there people in the image(s)? Yes No
Description
30. In response to number 29, if the answer is yes, how is the person, or people, presented? (What is the individual(s) doing in the image)
Description

26. Is there a 'news / media' link (promoting the surgeon) present?

De	escription
	32. Other / Miscellaneous findings
De	escription

31. How effective is the image as a visual message?

Appendix B: Coding Instrument For FGCS Online Forums

Blog / Online community Name:				
Blog / Online community URL: Date of Entry:				
Location of participant specified:				
1. What procedure(s) has the woman undergone, or would like to undergo?				
examples: labiaplasty vaginoplasty hymenoplasty				
Description				
2. What reasons are given for wanting to undergo FGCS? examples: physical discomfort appearance / cosmetic reasons psychological / social reasons functional / sexual reasons				
Description				
3. If physical discomfort is mentioned, how is it described? examples: throbbing sore pinched chafing				
Description				

described?
examples: wanting to look "prettier" desire to look/feel more attractive
Description
5. If psychological/ social reasons are mentioned, how are they described? examples: self-loathing low confidence low self-esteem anxiety feeling "different" depression
Description
6. Are the concepts of empowerment and / or liberation mentioned? Yes No
Description
7. Is the concept of oppression mentioned? Yes No
Description
8. When did the woman first hear about FGCS?
Description

4. If appearance/ cosmetic reasons are mentioned, how are they

9. Is there mention of outside / external influences the woman experienced aiding in her desire to undergo FGCS? Yes No examples: significant other magazines/films (a standard ideal)
Description
10. Has the woman undergone FGCS? (Did participant already have surgery) Yes No
Description
If number 10 is no, continue with next question then skip to number 20, or
if number 10 is yes, continue to number 1211. In response to number 10, if answer is no, how does the woman describe her genitalia (in its current state, pre-surgery)?examples: unappealing disfigured gross abnormal irregular
Description
12. In response to number 10, if the answer is yes, how does the woman describe her genitalia pre-surgery? examples: unappealing disfigured gross abnormal irregular large Description
P

13. In response to number 10, how does the woman describe her genitalia		
post-surgery?		
examples: beautiful normal even/symmetrical pleasing		
small		
Description		
Description		
14. Is there mention of risks or complications reported with her surgery? examples: bleeding irregular pain itching numbness		
Description		
15. Does the woman mention short-term out comes of her surgery?		
examples: sense of relief feelings of anxiety/stress		
Description		
16. Does the woman mention long-term out comes of the surgery?		
examples: satisfaction regret positive self-image		
Description		
17. Has the woman mentioned wanting to have surgery to anyone else		
(family, friends, partner)?		
Yes No		
Γ		
Description		

examples: "average size" of vagina, clitoris, labia			
Description			
19. How does the woman define / explain <i>abnormal</i> female genitalia? examples: "protruding labia" asymmetrical			
Description			
20. Is the age of the woman mentioned? Yes No			
Description			
21. Is the instance when the woman was first exposed to FGCS mentioned? Yes No			
Description			
22. When did the woman first have the desire to undergo FGCS? examples: first partner puberty recognizing she was "different"			
Description			

18.How does the woman define / explain *normal* female genitalia?

23.	Other	Miscellaneou	s findings
-----	-------	--------------	------------

Description			

Appendix C: Content Analysis Sources

- Two female genital cosmetic surgery online forums²².
- Allan, B. (n.d). *Laser Vaginal Rejuvination*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.allancentre.com/.
- Alter, G. J. (2014). *Female Genital Surgery*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.altermd.com/.
- Backstein, R. (2015). *Body Contouring*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.cosmeticsurgerytoronto.com/.
- Benchetrit, A. (2014). *Labiaplasty & Vaginal Rejuvenation*. Retrieved April 1 2014, from http://www.plasticsurgerymontreal.com/.
- Bendor-Samuel, R., & Boileau, S. (2015). *Labiaplasty*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.landingsurgery.ca/.
- Blatt, R. (2013). *Surgical Procedures*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://manhattancenterforvaginalsurgery.com/.
- Bowman, C. (n.d). *Genital Cosmetic Surgery*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.fairviewplasticsurgery.com/.
- DuPéré, M. (2015.). *Labiaplasty*. Retrieved April 1 2014, from http://www.visageclinic.com/.
- Edelstein, J. (2015). *Labiaplasty / Labial Reduction*. Retrieved April 1 2014, from https://www.edelsteincosmetic.com/.
- Firouz, S. J. (2013). *Labiaplasty*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.drfirouz.com/.
- First Glance Aesthetic Clinic. (2013). *Gyne*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://thefirstglance.ca/.

144

²² Two North American FGCS online forums were used to gather data regarding women's reasons and experiences with FGCS. However, in order to ensure confidentiality and protect the anonymity of the women in this study, the online forum URLs nor the actual website names will be provided. This is due to the fact that if such information were provided, the women could be easily identified.

- Goodman, M. (2015). *Vaginal Cosmetic Surgery*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.drmichaelgoodman.com/.
- Hong, C. (2014). *Gender Specific Female Surgery*. Retrieved April 1 2014, from http://www.drcolinhong.com/#.
- Jackson, R. (2014). *Cosmetic Gynaecology*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.falsecreekplasticsurgery.com
- Jacobson, E. (2014). *Procedures*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://labiaplastymd.net/.
- Jason, R. (2015). *Procedures*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://lvriny.reachlocal.net/.
- Jovanovic, K. (2015). *Our Treatments*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.lvrinyc.com/.
- Kasrai, L. (2008). *Labiaplasty*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.myplasticsurgeon.ca/labioplasty.asp.
- Lee, G. (n.d). *Vaginal Rejuvenation*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.changesplasticsurgery.com/.
- Levin, R. (2015). *Body Contouring*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.drronaldlevine.com/.
- Lista, F., & Ahmad, J. (n.d). *Labia Reduction & Vaginal Tightening*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.theplasticsurgeryclinic.com/.
- Matlock, D. (n.d). *Body Procedures*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.drmatlock.com/.
- Miranda, E., & Krishnan, L. (2015). *Labiaplasty*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.pacificplasticsurgerygroup.com/.
- Placik, O. (2015). *Procedures & FAQS*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from https://www.vaginachicago.com/Home.html.

- Rho, R. (n.d). *Services*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.labiadoctor.com/index.php.
- Roland, D. (2015). *Female Genital Surgery*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.donaldrolandmd.com/.
- Stanton, R. (2008). *Labiaplasty*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.drryanstanton.com/.
- Toronto Cosmetic Clinic. (2014). *Surgical Procedures*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from https://www.tcclinic.com/.
- Wilkie, D. (2015). *Vaginal Rejuvination & Labaiplasty*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://www.newwoman.ca.
- Wright, K. (2015). *Vaginal Reconstructive Surgery & Labia Rejuvenation Surgery*. Retrieved April 1, 2014, from http://thewrightobgyn.com/.

Appendix D: Surgeons' Websites Reasons For Female Genital Cosmetic Surgery

Reasons for FGCS	Number of times each rationale is cited
Appearance / Aesthetic	27
Psychological	19
Physical Discomfort	18
Sexual	16
Medical	8
Sociocultural / Religious	6
Aging	6
Childbirth	5
Hygiene	2

Appendix E: Women's Reasons For Female Genital Cosmetic Surgery

Reasons for FGCS	Number of times each rationale is cited
Appearance / Aesthetic	22
Psychological	22
Physical Discomfort	14
Sexual	3